Production Performance and Nitrogen Utilization in Dairy Cows Fed Low Or High Crude

Protein Diets Containing Corn Dried Distillers Grains With Solubles and Provided

Supplemental By-Pass Protein/Amino Acids

A Thesis

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Master of Science

With a

Major in Animal Science

In the

College of Graduate Studies

University of Idaho

By

Allison Veronica Stevens

Major Professor: Gwinyai Chibisa, Ph.D.

Committee Members: Pedram Rezamand, Ph.D., Brennan Smith, Ph.D.,

Anne Laarman, Ph.D.

Department Administrator: Amin Ahmadzadeh, Ph.D.

August 2019

Authorization to Submit Thesis

This thesis of Allison Veronica Stevens, submitted for the degree of Master of Science with a major in Animal Science and titled "Production performance and nitrogen utilization in dairy cows fed low or high crude protein diets containing corn dried distillers grains with solubles and provided supplemental by-pass protein/amino acids" has been reviewed in final form. Permission, as indicated by the signatures and dates given below, is now granted to submit final copies to the College of Graduate Studies for approval.

Major Professor:	Date:
	Gwinyai Chibisa, Ph.D.
Committee Members:	Date:
	Anne Laarman, Ph.D.
	Date:
	Brennan Smith, Ph.D.
	Date:
	Pedram Rezamand, Ph.D.
Department Administrator:	Date:
	Amin Ahmadzadeh, Ph.D.

Abstract

Feeding corn dried distillers grains with solubles in low crude protein (CP) diets improves nitrogen utilization efficiency, however it can also reduce metabolizable AA supply, especially Lys, which compromises lactation performance. Therefore, our objective was to determine the effects of feeding by-pass protein/rumen-protected AA supplements in low or high CP diets containing 10% corn dried distillers grains with solubles. Six multiparous Holstein cows (619.3 \pm 49.8 kg BW; 26.8 \pm 6.2 DIM) were subjected to a split-plot 3 \times 3 Latin square design with 21 d periods. The whole-plot factor was dietary CP content; low (14.6%; LP) or high (16.6%; HP), and the subplot was by-pass protein/AA supplement; control (no supplement), Supplement A (0.11 kg/cow/d) or Supplement B (0.45 kg/cow/d). Supplement A and B differed in both ingredient and chemical composition, resulting in differing AA concentrations. Dry matter intake, milk and milk lactose and protein yield did not differ in cows fed the LP than HP diet. However, reducing dietary CP content resulted in a decrease in N intake and apparent total tract CP digestibility, and a tendency for a decrease in milk protein yield. Furthermore, cows fed the LP diet tended to excrete a lower amount of total urinary N and urea-N and excreted a lower amount of total N than cows fed the HP diet. Similarly, BUN concentration was lower, and MUN concentration tended to be lower when N intake was restricted. However, there was no supplement effect on nutrient intake and digestibility, milk and milk component yields, and all measures of N utilization. Overall, feeding CDDGS in a LP compared to a HP diet had a marginal effect on production performance, which possibly negated the potential benefits of providing supplemental bypass protein/RP-AA under our experimental conditions. However, feeding CDDGS in a LP than

HP diet improved N utilization efficiency, which may be beneficial from an environmental sustainability standpoint.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the University of Idaho Dairy faculty and staff, especially Josh Peak and Derrick Mamer, for use of their facilities, and for excellent animal care. Furthermore, many thanks to the support and assistance of my dear friends and fellow students; Lani Martin and Tanya Weber; for coming out to help constantly, even on holidays, giving sound advice, and making this all possible. Lastly, thank you to my parents, for their unconditional support, both financial and emotional, which helped carry me through the more difficult times.

Table of Contents

Authorization to Submit Thesis	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
Introduction	1
Chapter 1. Review of Literature	3
1.1 Sustainable dairy production	3
1.2 Meeting amino acid requirements in dairy cattle	4
1.3 Nitrogen utilization efficiency in dairy cattle	8
1.4 Reducing the environmental costs of dairy production	11
1.5 Use of corn dried distillers grains with solubles in the dairy industry	14
1.6 Use of by-pass protein sources and rumen-protected amino acids	17
1.7 Hypothesis and objective	18
Chapter 2. Feeding high and low crude protein diets, containing 10% corn dried distille	ers
grains, and supplemented with by-pass protein products.	19
2.1 Materials and Methods	19
2.1.2 Animals and experimental design	19

2.1.3 Treatments and feeding management	19
2.1.4 Data collection and sampling	
2.1.5 Sample analysis	
2.1.6 Calculations	
2.1.7 Statistical analysis	
2.2 Results	
2.2.1 Diets and chemical composition	
2.2.2 Production measures	
2.2.3 Intake and apparent total tract nutrient digestibility	
2.2.4 Measures of nitrogen utilization	
2.2.5 Plasma AA and metabolite concentration	27
2.3 Discussion	
2.4 Conclusion	
Chapter 3. Summary and Implications	
References	
Tables and Figures	51
Appendices	67
Research protocol approval	67

List of Tables

Table 1. Ingredient and chemical composition of the basal low and high CP diets
Table 2. Amino acid profile of the dietary ingredients 53
Table 3. Amino acid profile of each dietary treatment combination
Table 4. Production performance for cows fed a low- or high-CP diet containing corn
DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or
supplement B (Supp B)
Table 5. Nutrient intake and apparent total tract nutrient digestibility for cows fed a high-CP
or low-CP diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement (CON),
supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B)
Table 6. Measures of N utilization for cows fed a high-CP or low-CP diet containing corn
DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or
supplement B (Supp B)
Table 7. Plasma amino acid concentration for cows fed a high-CP or low-CP diet containing
corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or
supplement B (Supp B)60

List of Figures

Figure 1. Sampling trimline for each 21-d period 62
Figure 1. Urine output for cows fed a low-CP or high-CP diet containing corn DDGS and
top-dressed with either no supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B
(Supp B)
Figure 2. Plasma His, Ile, Leu, and Val concentrations for cows fed a low-CP or high-CP
diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement (CON), supplement
A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B)65
Figure 3. Plasma total branched-chain AA and total AA concentrations for cows fed a low-
CP or high-CP diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement
(CON), supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B)66

Introduction

Historically, maximizing economic returns has been the major driver of the increase in milk production in the U.S. In recent years, however there has been a shift towards sustainable dairy production, with environmental issues taking center stage. This is reflected by the increase in environmental litigations and regulations as consumers are demanding greater environmental accountability for dairy producers especially for N emissions, including nitrates. Thus, it is increasingly important to minimize N excretion and properly manage manure on dairy farms.

In dairy cows, only 20 to 25% of total N intake is converted to milk N; therefore, up to 80% of feed N is excreted in urine and feces (Tamminga, 1992; Hristov et al., 2004). Because feed costs account for the bulk of operational expenses and protein is the most expensive component of most diets, this low efficiency of N use limits profitability. In addition, the 75 to 80% of fed N that is excreted as urine and fecal N can be an environmental pollutant. Therefore, enhancing N use efficiency is not only important in reducing feed costs, but is also a key in limiting N excretion and emissions, which could go a long way in changing consumer perception about U.S. dairy production being unsustainable.

The most effective method to reduce N excretion and improve utilization is lowering dietary CP content (Hristov et al., 2011). Unfortunately, this method may also impact production performance. For instance, some studies (Giallongo et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2000) have reported that limiting dietary CP does not result in a decrease in production performance. However, others (Lee et al., 2012; Barros et al., 2017) observed a decrease in milk yield, which makes it a difficult choice for producers. Therefore, the current industry

trend is to overfeed CP during early lactation to prevent the potential decrease in milk production, and this contributes to the low efficiency of N utilization (Broderick, 2003; Hristov et al., 2014).

Because protein is widely recognized as the most expensive macro-nutrient, dairy producers often seek cost-effective protein sources to reduce production costs. Therefore, corn dried distillers grain with solubles (CDDGS) is currently a widely used protein source as it is typically cheaper than traditional protein sources such as soybean meal (Kleinschmit et al., 2007). However, CDDGS, has a high CP content and its dietary inclusion can result in N supply exceeding the requirements, which leads to waste. In addition, like most corn byproducts, CDDGS is Lys-deficient (Lui et al., 2000; Kalscheur, 2006), and could remain an insignificant source of Lys, even when fed in a high CP diet. Lysine, Met and Phe have also been reported as limiting when CDDGS is fed even in high CP diets (Nichols et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000). Therefore, although reducing N intake when feeding DDGS improves N use efficiency, it can exacerbate the metabolizable AA deficiency that compromises milk and milk protein yield (Chibisa and Mutsvangwa, 2013). However, supplementation of by-pass protein sources when feeding low CP diets can be effective in combating the potential loss in production performance while maintaining the improvement in N utilization efficiency (Sinclair et al., 2014; Robinson et al., 1995).

Chapter 1. Review of Literature

1.1 Sustainable dairy production

The traditional goal of the dairy industry has been to increase milk production and, thus, on-farm profitability. For instance, there has been a 12% increase in annual milk yield per cow over the past 10 years (USDA-NASS, 2018a). While maximizing lactation performance is still important, there has been a shift towards more sustainable dairy production in recent years. There are three pillars of sustainable dairy production; economic, environmental, and social (Van Cauwenbergh, 2006). From an economic standpoint, the major challenges that producers are currently facing are the volatile and rising feed costs and low milk prices (Tyner, 2010; USDA-NASS, 2018b) and this has created a greater need for an improvement in the efficiency of milk production. In addition to maximizing production performance in a manner that does not compromise animal health and welfare, producers must also address the environmental cost of production, particularly N emissions. Therefore, meeting these goals will ensure that consumers may begin to view US dairy production as being sustainable.

While there have been environmental regulations about animal agriculture since the early 1970's (US EPA, 1972), in recent years, regulations are becoming much more focused and stricter. Specifically, these regulations are targeting 'concentrated animal feeding operations' (**CAFO**), which are any operation where more than 700 animals are housed indoors for a portion of the year and under controlled feeding for more than 45 days annually (USDA-EPA, 1999). Even smaller operations, with fewer than 300 animals, can be recognized as a CAFO and subjected to related regulations on a case-by-case basis. Therefore, most dairies fall under the definition of CAFO, and are subjected to strict

regulations on manure application to land, runoff maintenance and removal, and total daily emissions (USDA-EPA, 1999). These guidelines on waste management have been put into place by the EPA and are enforced within each state.

There are currently no direct costs associated with N loss in the U.S., which is unlike in certain European countries, including the Netherlands, where dairy producers must adhere to a cap-and-trade N excretion system on farms (OECD, 2015). However, there has been an increase in litigations and regulations in the U.S., as consumers are demanding greater environmental accountability for dairy producers. For instance, in a recent environmental lawsuit, several dairies in Yakima Valley, WA, were sued for allegedly causing ground water pollution as a result of manure runoff. Following ground water tests in the area, the EPA determined that between 10 and 20% of the sampled wells had nitrate levels that exceeded acceptable levels (US EPA, 2012a). Ultimately, the producers lost the case, and had to sign a consent order to implement several new waste management practices and submit to more frequent and intensive monitoring. Legal fees alone were nearly two million U.S. dollars, on top of the costs to implement new management practices and sampling protocols; one of the dairy owners was forced to sell his operation (US EPA, 2016). This case clearly highlights the shift towards sustainable dairy production with environmental issues taking center stage; which introduces a new level of difficulty in meeting the demands of lactating cows, without excess N waste.

1.2 Meeting amino acid requirements in dairy cattle

Lactating dairy cows require AA for maintenance, growth, and reproduction. Therefore, it is imperative to provide an adequate amount of dietary protein to facilitate the production and absorption of both essential- (EAA) and non-essential amino acids (NEAA). Traditionally, crude protein (CP) is used to determine protein quality of a diet, whereby feeds are analyzed for N and CP is calculated under the assumption that all AA contain approximately 16% N (AOAC, 1984). Crude protein is made up of two fractions; rumen degradable protein (**RDP**) and rumen undegradable protein (**RUP**). Rumen degradable protein is made up of true protein (TP) and non-protein nitrogen (NPN). When fed to cattle, TP is sequentially degraded to peptides, AA, and some ammonia, whereas NPN, such as urea-N, is hydrolyzed directly to ammonia-N (Hristov and Jouany, 2005). Some of the dominant proteolytic rumen microbes involved in this process are *Bacteroides ruminicola* and *Peptostreptococcus sp.* (Virtanen, 1966). Depending on fermentable energy supply, peptides, AA, and ammonia-N are the three forms of N used by rumen microbes for microbial protein synthesis (MPS). If ruminal fermentable energy is adequate, a large proportion of peptides and AA are used for MPS, and there is limited production of ammonia. For instance, McCarthy et al. (1989) reported that replacing barley with corn as the primary carbohydrates (CHO) of a diet significantly increased energy availability for MPS as starch degraded in the rumen increased by 1 kg/d (P = 0.002) with use of barley over corn. When energy supply is sufficient, a large amount of ammonia-N is also utilized for MPS. On the other hand, if energy supply is deficient, the capture of peptides, AA and ammonia-N into MPS is compromised, which reduces total MP (Hristov and Jouany, 2005).

Additionally, the rumen microbes may compensate for the limited energy supply by deaminating AA, which is a process that yields ATP that can be used for MPS. Deamination of free AA in the rumen involves enzymatic removal of the amine group, which is then converted to ammonia; the remaining portion of the AA is oxidized to produce ATP (Chen and Russell, 1991). While deamination will allow microbes to continue MPS, it is a much

less efficient method and can result in an increase in the ammonia-N concentration in the rumen (Lapierre et al., 2006; Chen and Russell, 1991).

Coupled with its limited capture for MPS, there is an increase in spillage of ammonia-N into blood across the rumen wall. Because it is neurotoxic, absorbed ammonia-N is transported to the liver where it is detoxified into urea-N. Blood urea-N (**BUN**) can then be either excreted in urine or recycled back to the gut through saliva or blood (Reynolds and Kristensen, 2008).

The utilization of microbial protein is an adaptive mechanism that allows cows to survive and produce milk even on extremely low CP diets (4.5% CP, DM basis; Virtanen, 1966). Because the modern dairy cow is producing approximately twice as much as the average dairy cow was in the early 1960's (USDA-NASS, 2018a), it has a much greater AA and N requirement. Microbial protein, ruminally undegradable protein (RUP; by-pass protein), and endogenous protein contribute to metabolizable AA supply in dairy cows. Of the 3 fractions, microbial protein is the most important because it provides up to 60% of metabolizable AA required to support milk production (Uddin, et al., 2015). In addition, it is also highly digestible in the small intestine; about 80% of AA in microbial protein flowing out of the rumen is absorbed (Rodriguez, et al., 2007). Furthermore, microbial protein is a high-quality protein as it possesses an AA profile nearly identical to that needed for tissue growth and milk synthesis (NRC, 2001; Lapierre et al., 2006). Despite its importance, microbial protein alone does not supply enough metabolizable AA to support milk protein synthesis in high-yielding dairy cows (NRC, 2001). Thus, feeding adequate RUP is essential to provide those AA, which may limit milk protein synthesis, primarily Lys, Met, and His, because of the extensive use of corn-silage and alfalfa hay-based diets (Lee et al., 2012b).

Several sources of RUP, including soybean meal (SBM) and CDDGS, are currently fed to lactating dairy cows to maximize metabolizable AA supply and, thus milk protein synthesis (Lee et al., 2012b; McCarthy et al., 1989). High quality sources of RUP are chosen for their resistance to ruminal degradation and high intestinal digestibility (Loerch, et al., 1983). When increasing dietary RUP, however, it is possible to compromise RDP supply, which reduces rumen N balance and, therefore, reduce MPS (Clark, et al., 1992; Gaillard et al., 2017). Additionally, digestibility of the total diet can impact passage rate through the rumen, reducing time for potential MPS and RUP breakdown. In a 12-year review of 108 studies, 76% reported impaired MPS that was related to use of RUP sources in lactating cow diets (Santos et al., 1989). Thus, it is important to first meet the N requirements of the rumen microbes, and then provide RUP as a source of additional AA.

If provision of RUP does not inhibit MPS, the next major consideration is intestinal digestibility. For a feed to bypass the rumen, it must be either less degradable or facilitate faster passage rate (Casper, et al., 1999). In the case of decreased degradability, there is a risk that the feed will not be adequately hydrolyzed once past the rumen, which limits the amount of nutrients available for absorption. For instance, fish meal has an ideal AA profile, but is much more expensive, whereas SBM is highly digestible and more affordable, although its AA profile is less complete (McCarthy, et al., 1989).

Another consideration in selection of RUP sources is complementarity in terms of AA supply relative to the contribution of microbial protein. For instance, fish meal is an excellent RUP source because it has a high Lys and Met content and can be used as a supplemental AA source (McCarthy et al., 1989). In general, most animal-based proteins have an ideal AA profile that compliment microbial protein. Because of their high cost,

however, they are often overlooked in favor of other sources such as SBM or CDDGS. While both SBM and CDDGS are often deficient in Met and Lys respectively, they are affordable and highly digestible (Nichols, 1998).

Besides microbial protein and RUP, endogenous protein can make a substantially contribution to metabolizable protein (**MP** supply). The primary source of endogenous protein in ruminants is the sloughed off tissue of the gastrointestinal tract (**GIT**). Digestive enzymes and juices also contribute to endogenous protein. Because of constant degradation of tissue protein as part of cellular turnover, the released AA can ultimately undergo deamination. The resulting ammonia-N is detoxified to urea-N, which may be recycled back to the GIT, where it also contributes to endogenous protein. Endogenous protein can contribute up to 20% of total MP flow (Lapierre, 2006; Lapierre and Lobley, 2001), which is influenced by numerous factors including forage quality, source, and digestibility. For instance, feeding hay rather than silage increased endogenous protein supply, likely because of increased scratch factor on the rumen (Ouellet et al., 2010).

1.3 Nitrogen utilization efficiency in dairy cattle

In ruminants, the capture of dietary N into saleable product, including milk protein, is low. For instance, Spek et al. (2013) reported the conversion of only 26% of dietary N into milk protein, whereas 35% was excreted as urine N, and 33% as fecal; leaving approximately 6% of N as an unknown pool. Therefore, up to 80% of consumed N can be excreted as N waste. The major contributor to the low efficiency of N utilization in dairy cows is the indiscriminate degradation of dietary protein by rumen microbes (Tamminga, 1992; Calsamiglia, 2010). The presence of rumen microbes is an adaptive feature of dairy cows which makes them so desirable in converting feed sources otherwise unavailable for human consumption into highly nutritious animal products. Rumen microbes, however, will indiscriminately degrade all available RDP; this includes high quality dietary CP sources, which could otherwise serve as a good source of metabolizable AA following intestinal digestion (Pfeffer and Hristov, 2005). Similarly, variation in rumen pH and microbial activity, as well as digestive passage rates, can negatively influence N capture. Additionally, availability of fermentable energy in the diet determines N uptake and MPS (Cammell et al., 2000). Therefore, these factors offer an opportunity to improve N efficiency; for instance, manipulation of dietary energy and fiber content to optimize rumen health and therefore microbial activity and reducing dietary CP to maximize N efficiency (Calsamiglia et al., 2010).

The low efficiency of capture of dietary N into milk has both economic and environmental implications. From an economic standpoint and considering that protein sources are typically the most expensive feed component, the overall low N utilization efficiency of dairy cows results in reduced profit margins (Vandehaar et al., 2006). Wastage of dietary N is further exacerbated with the use of high CP diets, which reduces N utilization efficiency and therefore profitability (Godden et al., 2001). The loss of the majority of feed N in urine and feces can also contribute to environmental impact. Currently, there is no direct cost associated with N excretion on US dairy farms. However, the recent litigations alleging environmental pollution because of poor N waste management are an indication that the U.S. may be heading towards more consequential environmental regulations. For instance, the dairy producers sued in Yakima Valley had to spend over \$2,000,000, even before implementing the N management practices mandated at the conclusion of the case (US EPA, 2016). Therefore, improving the efficiency of N utilization has the potential to not only reduce feed costs, but also minimize environmental impact and those associated costs.

From an environmental standpoint, the greatest concern is with urine N as it contains 60 to 90% urea-N (Bristow et al., 1992), which is a labile form of N that can cause pollution. Although fecal N is less environmentally labile, the presence of microbial urease converts urine urea-N into ammonia-N (Bussink and Oenema, 1998). Upon release, which is dependent on the temperature, pH, and oxygen availability, ammonia-N can vaporize into the atmosphere and contribute to the production of haze and acid rain (Bussink and Onenema, 1998). Furthermore, atmospheric ammonia-N can transform to ammonium, contributing to small diameter particulate matter (< $2.5 \mu m$), negatively impacting respiratory health in humans, which is a serious concern (VandeHaar and St-Pierre, 2006).

The proportion of ammonia-N that does not vaporize is absorbed into the soil and can undergo nitrification by soil microbes (e.g., *Nitrosomonas*) to form primarily nitrates, which are an excellent N source for plants (Frate, 2007). However, if nitrates are not taken up by plant roots, they leach through the soil and may end up in ground water. A high concentration of nitrates in groundwater (> 10 mg/L) is undesirable as it can compromise human health (US EPA, 2012a). For instance, excess nitrate concentrations can lead to blue baby syndrome, which occurs because of the ability of nitrates to cause oxidation of hemoglobin to methemoglobin thus, reducing the number of oxygen-carrying red blood cells in the body (Knobeloch, et al., 2000). The process of nitrification is catalyzed by warm temperature. Additionally, a high concentration of urea-N in the soil will lower the pH and results in elevated ammonia-N levels, catalyzing denitrification (Hristov et al., 2011). These factors contribute to the necessity of EPA regulations on manure land application rates. As soil depth increases and conditions become more anaerobic, ammonia-N can be transformed to nitrites, which can also reach toxic levels in the soil and ground water (US EPA, 2012a). Nitrate and nitrites can undergo further transformation; denitrifying microbes, including *Clostridium spp.*, convert nitrate and nitrites to other nitrous compounds, including nitrous oxide that may be released into the atmosphere. Nitrous oxide is a powerful green-house gas that contributes to the destruction of the ozone layer (Van Cleemput and Samater, 1996). Nitrogen excretions pose several threats to environmental sustainability of dairy production and must be addressed to answer an increasingly conscious consumer.

1.4 Reducing the environmental costs of dairy production

To prevent the potential loss in production performance, there is currently widespread use of high CP diets (Chase et al., 2012 and NRC, 2001; 17.5 - 23%, DM basis) in the dairy industry. This is a result of the belief that dietary CP is directly correlated to MY. However, this is not entirely true because beyond a certain point, an increase in dietary CP does not result in an increase in milk yield (NRC, 2001; Ipharraguerre and Clark, 2005). In addition, high CP diets are fed because of the inclusion of safety margins to prevent a potential decrease in milk and milk protein yield related to a deficiency in MP. Ultimately, use of high CP diets further reduces the efficiency of N utilization in dairy cows.

There have been several studies on the improvement of N utilization efficiency by lowering of CP content in lactating dairy cow diets. For instance, in a study by Barros et al. (2017), diets containing 16.2, 14.4, 13.1 and 11.8% CP (DM basis) were fed to lactating dairy cows for twelve weeks; DMI and MUN concentration decreased linearly as dietary CP content decreased. While the change from 16.2 to 14.4% did not affect milk yield, it led to a decrease in milk protein concentration (Barros et al., 2017). Additionally, milk production

was 1.6 and 5.6 kg lower in cows fed the 13.1 and 11.8% CP diets, respectively, compared to the 16.2% CP diet. After reducing dietary CP from 16.7 to 14.8% (DM basis), Lee et al. (2011) reported a 2.9 kg decrease in MY. Similarly, in a study by Cyriac et al. (2008), reducing RDP by 3.7% (DM basis) resulted in a decrease in DMI and a tendency for a decrease in MY.

One of the major causes of the decrease in MY with lowered dietary CP is the potential decrease in DMI. Low CP diets can impede DMI by impairing rumen function. Specifically, when limiting RDP, rumen ammonia-N concentration is limited, which can negatively impact the microbial population, specifically fiber-fermenting microbes, which are the most sensitive to RDP supply (Russell, et al., 1992). Reduced growth and activity of the rumen microbes may further limit the rate of MPS and efficiency, reducing total MP (Lee et al., 2012; Barros et al., 2017). Furthermore, impaired fiber digestion caused by a CP deficient diet can result in a decrease in the rumen passage rate and prolonging gut fill, which decreases total DMI (Lee et al., 2012a). A decrease in DMI limits MY by reducing available nutrients for the synthesis of milk protein, fat and lactose, and the energy necessary to carry out these processes (Hristov et al., 2004). In addition, limiting N intake could also reduce RUP flow to post-ruminal sites. The potential impact of feeding a low CP diet on MP/AA supply can vary depending on the predominant source of CP used. For instance, Lys, Met and His tend to be the most limiting AA when low CP diets are fed because of the extensive use of corn- and alfalfa-based diets in North American (Lee et al., 2012b). However, it has also been reported (Chandler, 1989) that many RUP sources that are considered high quality (e.g., blood meal and corn gluten meal) are still limiting in some EAA.

Despite the documented loss in production performance (Barros et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2011; Cyriac et al., 2008), there are indications, that N utilization efficiency may be improved when feeding low CP diets. For instance, in the study by Barros et al. (2017), MUN concentration decreased by increments of about 20% with each unit of dietary CP reduction (13.3, 10.1, 8.05, and 5.97 mg/dL, respectively). In the study by Lee et al. (2011), BUN was lower by 36% (20.1 vs. 12.8 mg/dL) for cows fed the 14.8% compared to the 16.7% CP diet. Similarly, Cyriac et al. (2008) noted that reducing RDP by 3.7% (DM basis) resulted in a 10.9% increase in N efficiency, based on measures of milk N and N intake. The improvement in N utilization efficiency following a reduction in dietary CP content is likely related to a decrease in N waste. Specifically, less N in the rumen lowers the amount of ammonia-N absorbed across the rumen wall, providing less ammonia-N for the liver to detoxify into urea-N. Thus, BUN is decreased, and total urea-N available for excretion in the urine or feces is reduced (Hristov et al., 2005).

Conversely, reducing dietary CP content has also been reported not to compromise milk production while maintaining the reduction in N waste (Leonardi et al., 2003). For instance, in a study by Giallango et al. (2015), lowering dietary CP content from 16.7 to 14.8% (DM basis) did not result in a decrease in MY. Milk urea-N, however, was 2 mg/dL lower in cows fed the 14.8 than 16.7% CP diet. Similarly, in a study by Colmenero and Broderick (2006), incrementally reducing dietary CP content (19.4, 17.9, 16.5, 15.0, and 13.5%) did not result in a reduction in MY but reduced MUN from 15.6 to 7.7 mg/dL. In all of these studies, there were also no differences in DMI; possibly because the low dietary CP content did not compromise rumen function. Others (Aguerre et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2012) have also made similar observations, whereby MY is not compromised when feeding low CP diets.

Decreasing dietary CP content improves the efficiency of N utilization by reducing excess ruminal ammonia-N, which would otherwise escape MPS and be excreted as urine urea-N. A rumen ammonia-N concentration of 5 mg/dL is believed to be adequate for optimal MPS and can be achieved when feeding as little as 13% CP (DM basis), further supporting the potential success of use of low CP diets (Satter and Roffler, 1975). The impact of dietary CP on DMI, however, is inconsistent and the potential decrease in milk and milk protein yield is a major concern for producers as it reduces profitability given the component pricing system for milk. A common practice for producers to maximize profit margins, is use of alternative energy and protein feed sources, to reduce feed input costs.

1.5 Use of corn dried distillers grains with solubles in the dairy industry

Corn DDGS is currently a widely used feed ingredient in the dairy industry, especially in the pacific northwest, where it is readily available; and because of its high CP, especially RUP content, and overall affordability (Kleinschmit et al., 2006; Firkins et al., 1984). In fact, CDDGS can provide \geq 55% RUP (Kleinschmit et al., 2007; DM basis). Although CDDGS has a high NDF content, it contains a low amount of lignin (NRC, 2001), which makes it highly digestible (Birkelo et al., 2004). Additionally, when compared to high starch energy sources, CDDGS provides a comparable amount of fermentable energy with reduced risk of acidosis. For instance, in a study by Ham et al. (1994), replacing corn grain with DDGS resulted in an increase in available energy (1.24 vs. 1.35 Mcal/kg, respectively; $P \leq 0.05$), but no change in rumen pH was reported. Additionally, CDDGS has been reported (Nichols et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000) to be comparable to SBM as a protein and energy source, although SBM tends to be more expensive. Given its high nutritive value, feeding corn DDGS has consistently been reported to increase production performance (Shingoethe et al., 2009).

Because it is typically cost-effective, it is not uncommon for a high amount of CDDGS to be fed to lactating cows on U.S. dairy farms (McCarthy, et al., 1989). Given its high CP content and limiting EAA, however, this practice can increase N wastage. Therefore, reducing total dietary CP may be an option in order to enhance N utilization efficiency when feeding CDDGS as a protein source. For instance, in a study by Chibisa and Mutsvangwa (2013), feeding DDGS in a low (15.2% DM basis) compared to a high (17.3%) CP diet resulted in significant improvement in measures of N utilization. Specifically, MUN was reduced by more than 21% whereas BUN was also lower by more than 20% for cows fed the low vs. high CP diet. However, Chibisa and Mutsvangwa (2013) also observed a decrease in MY and MPY (4.60 and 0.10 kg/d respectively) with reduced dietary CP, which was attributed to reduced nutrient supply, specifically metabolizable AA. In that study, although N digestibility was lower (5.30% decrease) for cows fed the low vs. high CP diet, apparent total tract ADF and NDF digestibility were not compromised, which may explain why DMI did not differ between diets.

It has been reported (Nichols et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000) that Lys, Met, and Phe are the most limiting AA in diets containing corn-based byproducts, including CDDGS. This is particularly important for Lys as it is heat-sensitive and may be further degraded during the distilling process (Choi et al., 1949). Limiting AA in lactation rations determine potential milk yields, encouraging use of high CP diets to avoid milk loss. In a study by Nichols et al. (1998), Lys, Met and Phe were noted to be the most limiting AA even when feeding a high CP diet (17.9% CP, DM basis) containing 20% CDDGS compared to that of SBM (18.7% CP, DM basis) to lactating cows. Additionally, supplementation of rumen-protected (**RP**) Met and Lys improved MY and MPY for cows fed the CDDGS diet, but not the SBM diet, suggesting that even at this elevated dietary CP content, the CDDGS diet was significantly limiting in Lys and Met. Furthermore, it was speculated that even with supplementation of RP Lys, the CDDGS diet was still Lys deficient, as there was no improvement seen in plasma Lys concentration. Similarly, in a study by Paz et al. (2013), it was observed that although supplementing RP-Lys in diets (16.7% CP; DM basis) containing an increasing amount of DDGS (0, 10, and 19.9%, DM basis) resulted in no effect on MY, plasma Lys concentration decreased by up to 11.8% as the DDGS inclusion increased. Similarly, in Liu et al. (2000), when feeding a diet containing 18.9% CDDGS (16.6% CP, DM basis) instead of a protein supplement blend (fishmeal and soybean meal; 16.5% CP, DM basis) and supplementing with RP-Lys + Met, Lys and Leu were consistently more limiting. Additionally, Lys and Leu were less efficiently extracted by the mammary gland in cows fed CDDGS (Nichols et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000). Furthermore, even with RP-Lys + Met, the CDDGS diet was Lys limiting, which suggested that supplementation was still inadequate.

Overall, reducing dietary CP content is the most effective way to improve the efficiency of N utilization in dairy cows. Feeding CDDGS, however, even in high CP diets can result in a deficiency of Lys, Met, and Phe, it may be necessary to provide supplemental by-pass protein/AA. Information on the impact of supplementing by-pass protein/AA sources in low CP diets containing CDDGS on production performance and the efficiency of N utilization is still limited.

1.6 Use of by-pass protein sources and rumen-protected amino acids

There has been success in the use of RP-AA and by-pass protein sources to increase production performance in several studies (Lee et al., 2012; Noftsnger and St-Pierre, 2003). For instance, in a study by Lee et al. (2012a), when feeding a high (15.6%, DM basis) vs. low (14.0%, DM basis) CP diet supplemented with RP Met or RP Lys, MY did not differ across diets, but N excretion was significantly lower for cows fed the 14% CP (DM basis) diet. Milk protein yield, however, was lower for cows fed the low CP diet supplemented with RP Lys. Similarly, Schwab et al. (1992), supplemented Met, Lys, Met + Lys, or Casein in diets throughout four stages of lactation (CP ranged from 13.5 to 16.0%, DM basis); during peak lactation (16.0% CP), only the Lys + Met supplementation improved MY, suggesting Lys was the first limiting AA, and that supplementation may increase overall production performance. This trend was observed in the other three stages of lactation as well; as CP content decreased, RP Met + Lys supplementation consistently improved production performance.

Even when RP amino acid supplementation does not improve MY, it often increases MPY (Lee et al., 2012a). For instance, in a study by Armentano et al. (1996), supplementation of increasing levels of RP Met in a 19.5% CP (DM basis) diet resulted in a linear increase in MPY; from 1,191 g without RP Met to 1,250 g with 11.5 g RP Met. Furthermore, in a study by Zang et al. (2019), supplementation of RP His on a low (15.1%, DM basis) CP diet resulted in a linear increase in plasma His concentration; while plasma Arg, Leu, Lys, and Phe decreased, suggesting a more complete absorbed AA profile available for milk protein synthesis. Additionally, in a study by Ariolla et al. (2014), supplementing moderate (18.75%) and high (21.26% CP, DM basis) CP diets with RP Met, RP Lys + Leu, RP Met + Lys, RP Met + Leu, and RP Met + Lys + Leu at least in part improved MPY for the lower CP diet; although CP level did not affect MY. While studies in current literature report predominately positive outcomes with supplementation of RP-AA and by-pass protein sources, there is still little information on the interaction of RP-AA/bypass protein supplementation in low CP diets containing CDDGS.

1.7 Hypothesis and objective

We hypothesized that the supplementation of by-pass protein in cows fed a low compared to a high CP diet would at least limit the decrease in milk and milk protein yield while maintaining an improvement in N utilization efficiency. The objective of this study was to evaluate the effects of feeding a low vs. high CP diet containing 10% CDDGS, supplemented with 2 by-pass protein/rumen-protected AA sources (Supplement A and B; the names of supplements cannot be disclosed as it is proprietary information; however, chemical composition data is reported in later sections), on production performance and the efficiency of N utilization.

Chapter 2. Feeding high and low crude protein diets, containing 10% corn dried distillers grains, and supplemented with by-pass protein products.

2.1 Materials and Methods

The experiment was conducted at the University of Idaho Dairy Center (Moscow, ID) from November 15th, 2017 to January 24th, 2018. All procedures were preapproved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Idaho (Protocol #2017-37). Cows were cared for according to the Dairy Center's pre- and post-calving management protocol. Briefly, dry cows are kept at pasture for approximately 45 days before transfer to dry-lot sheds for close-up observation. Fresh multiparous cows are given a Ca bolus at calving, and body temperature is monitored for the first 10 d post-calving. Any incidence of fever is treated with antibiotics and cows are continuously monitored. Furthermore, fresh cows were milked 2 times/d.

2.1.2 Animals and experimental design

Six multiparous Holstein cows ($619.3 \pm 49.8 \text{ kg BW}$; $26.8 \pm 6.2 \text{ DIM}$) were randomly assigned to a split-plot, 3×3 Latin square design. The whole-plot factor was dietary CP content; and the subplot was by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement. Each experimental period lasted 21 d, with 18 d for dietary adaptation and 3 d for data and sample collection. Cows were housed in individual tie-stalls for the entire study.

2.1.3 Treatments and feeding management

At the beginning of the study, the cows (n = 6) were assigned to one of two dietary protein concentrations including HP (formulated to contain 17.5% CP; DM basis) and LP (15.5% CP), and to one by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement (top-dressed); CON (no supplement; control), Supp A (0.11 kg of Supplement A/cow/d) or Supp B (0.45 kg of

Supplement B/cow/d). Specifically, three cows were offered a basal LP diet and provided either no supplement, Supplement A, or Supplement B at morning feeding. The other three cows were offered a basal HP diet and provided either no supplement, Supplement A, or Supplement B at morning feeding (Table 3). The basal diets contained 10% CDDGS (DM basis) and the forage:concentrate ratio was 49:51 (Table 1). Single batches of dietary ingredients, including CDDGS were used for the entire study. Diets were fed as a TMR, for *ad libitum* intake (approximately 5% refusals), prepared twice daily with 50% fed at 0630 h and 50% at 1830 h. Water was always available throughout the study.

2.1.4 Data collection and sampling

All cows were weighed before the morning feeding on two consecutive days at the beginning of each period. Additionally, cows were body condition scored at the start of each period by two observers. To determine DMI, the TMR offered and refused were weighed and recorded daily for each cow. Samples of dietary ingredients were collected weekly on two consecutive days for particle size determination using the Penn State Particle Separator as described by Kononoff et al. (2003). Samples were also dried for 72 h in a forced air oven at 55°C in preparation for CP analysis, which was conducted weekly to ensure that the 2% difference in dietary CP content was maintained for the entire study. Weekly silage DM content was determined to adjust the forage inclusion level (as-fed basis) if it deviated by >3% from the previous week's average. Samples of TMR and refusals were also collected on d 19, 20, and 21 of each period. The TMR and refusal samples were composited by cow per period, dried for 72 h in a forced air oven at 55°C, and ground through a 2-mm screen (Retsch Cutting Mill SM 200, Retsch, Haan, Germany) for later analyses. Cows were milked twice daily at 0600 and 1800 h. Milk samples were collected into containers with bronopol

as a preservative at 0600 and 1800 h from d 19 to 21. Samples were stored at 4°C before shipping to Dairy One Cooperative Inc. (Ithaca, NY) for analysis of fat, protein, lactose, SCC, MUN, and solids (Milkoscan; Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy).

Spot urine samples were collected from all cows at 0900, 1500 and 2100 h on d 19, 0300, 1200 and 1800 h on d 20, and 0000 and 0600 on d 21. To prevent loss of NH₃-N, 50-mL aliquots of the urine collected at each time point were immediately added to 3 mL of 2*M* H₂SO₄. Thereafter, a 1-mL subsample of the acidified urine was diluted in 9 mL of distilled H₂O. All collected samples were composited by cow per period and stored at -20°C for later analyses. Fecal grab samples were collected at the same time as spot urine samples and stored at 4°C. On the last day of each period, collected fecal samples were composited by cow and dried to a constant weight in a forced air oven at 55°C. Dried fecal composites were ground through a 2-mm screen (Retsch Cutting Mill SM 200, Retsch, Haan, Germany) and stored in sealed bags for later analyses.

Blood samples were collected by jugular venipuncture on d 21 at 3 h after morning feeding into 10 mL evacuated tubes (Becton Dickinson Vacutainer Systems, Franklin Lakes, NJ) containing either a clot activator or sodium heparin. After collection, blood samples were immediately transported to the laboratory for centrifugation (645 *g* for 20 min at 4°C). Plasma and serum were harvested and frozen at -20°C for later analyses.

2.1.5 Sample analysis

The ingredient, TMR, refusal and fecal samples were analyzed for analytical DM (AOAC, 1991; method 930.15), ash (AOAC, 2006; method 942.05), total N (Kjeltec 8400, FOSS Analytics; Hillerod, Denmark; AOAC, 1990; method 976.05), ADF (AOAC, 2005; method 973.18) and NDF (Mertens, 2002; with amylase and sodium sulfite). Composite

samples (d 19 – 21) of TMR and refusals were particle sized with a 2 screen (19mm and 8mm, respectively) Pennsylvania state particle separator (Jones and Heinrichs, 2013) for determination of particle length distribution, and to screen for sorting behavior. Sorting was calculated (per Leonardi and Armentano, 2003) by comparing actual intake of each fraction with predicted intake. The iNDF content of TMR, refusal, and fecal samples was also determined according to Valente et al. (2011). Briefly, samples were weighed into nylon bags (F57, Ankom Technology, Macedon, NY), distributed in a large mesh bag, and incubated for 288 h in the rumen of two cannulated lactating Holstein cows. After incubation, all bags were rinsed under tap water, and then washed three times using a washing machine (1-minute wash and 2-minute spin cycles). Residues were then analyzed for NDF as previously described. Samples of dietary ingredients were also sent to the University of Missouri Experimental Station Chemical Laboratories for amino acid analysis (AOAC Official Method 982.30, 2006).

Prior to analysis, plasma and serum samples were thawed at room temperature. Thereafter, commercial kits were used to analyze for NEFA (Caymen Chemcial Co., Ann Arbor, MI), βHBA (Caymen Chemical Co., Ann Arbor, MI), glucose (Caymen Chemical Co., Ann Arbor, MI), and PUN (Arbor Assays; Ann Arbor, MI). Dilute acidified urine composite samples were also thawed at room temperature before analysis. Thereafter, samples were then analyzed for creatinine (Caymen Chemical Co., Ann Arbor, MI), urea-N (Arbor Assays; Ann Arbor, MI) and total N (Kjeldahl method). Purine derivatives (allantoin and uric acid; Verbic et al., 1990) were analyzed via HPLC/MS using a method adapted from Stentoft et al. (2014). Briefly, separation was carried out using a reversed-phase column (2 mm × 250 mm, 5 μm particle size,; C18, Phenomenex, Torrance, CA) and a 5% methanol mobile phase. Flow rate was 200 μ L/min with an injection volume of 5 μ L. Column temperature was maintained at 30° C and sampler temperature was at 4° C.

2.1.6 Calculations

Urine output was estimated using creatinine concentration, with the constant of 29 mg/kg BW (Valadares et al., 1999). Creatinine concentration and BW for each animal in each period were used in the following equation:

Urine output, $kg/d = (29 \times BW^{0.75}) \div Creatinine concentration, mg/dL$

The TMR and fecal iNDF data was used to estimate fecal output, according to the following equation:

Fecal output, kg = (iNDF intake × % iNDF indigestibility) ÷ Fecal % iNDF

Apparent total tract digestibility was then calculated using the following equation:

Digestibility, % = [(Nutrient intake, g – Nutrient output, g) ÷ Nutrient intake, g] × 100

Apparent N balance was calculated as the difference between N intake and N excretion (fecal + urine + milk). To estimate purine absorption, excretion of purine derivatives (allantoin and uric acid) was used, as described in Chen and Gomes (1992), in the following equation:

$PD_{excreted}$, mmol/d = 0.85($PD_{absorbed}$) + (0.385 $BW^{0.75}$),

where 0.85 is the recovery of absorbed purines and 0.385 $BW^{0.75}$ represents purine excretion from endogenous sources. Microbial N flow was then calculated using estimated PD absorption according to the following equation:

Microbial N,
$$g/d = 70(PD_{absorbed}) \div (0.116 \times 0.83 \times 1,000)$$

where 70 represents the known N content of purines, 0.83 is the digestibility of purines, and 11.6:100 is the purine-N:total N ratio in rumen microbes.

2.1.7 Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed as a split-plot 3×3 Latin square design using the MIXED procedure of SAS (SAS version 9.4; SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). The model included the following independent variables: cow, period, basal diet (LP vs. HP), supplementation (CON, Supp B, Supp A), and basal diet × supplementation interaction. The period, basal diet and supplementation were considered fixed, and cow was considered random. Significance was declared at P < 0.05 and trends at 0.05 < P < 0.10. Results are presented as least square means.

2.2 Results

2.2.1 Diets and chemical composition

The ingredient and chemical composition data of the basal diets are presented in Table 1. Diets were formulated to contain 15% (LP) or 17% CP (HP) on a DM basis. To reduce dietary CP content, a portion of canola meal in the high CP pellet was replaced with soybean dust in the low CP pellet (Table 2). Although CP content was lower (14.6% and 16.6% CP) than the formulation targets, we were able to maintain the 2% difference between the diets throughout the study. The OM, NDF, and ADF content of the basal diets were comparable between the HP and LP diet. As for AA composition, the HP pellet contained a greater amount of Leu, Lys, Phe, Thr, and Glu than the LP pellet, which reflects the substitution of canola for soybean protein (Table 2, 3). Furthermore, Supp A had greater concentrations of Lys, Met, and His than Supp B, because of the use of different blends of plant and animal by-pass protein/RP-AA sources.

2.2.2 Production measures

There was no dietary CP content × supplement interaction ($P \ge 0.22$) for all measurements. Dry matter intake did not differ across dietary CP content (P = 0.45) and bypass protein/RP-AA supplement (P = 0.78; Table 4). Milk yield and ECM also did not differ ($P \ge 0.27$) in cows fed the LP compared to HP diet. Similarly, provision of a by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement had no detectable effect ($P \ge 0.88$) on milk or milk component yields. Although dietary CP content had no detectable effect ($P \ge 0.19$) on milk fat and lactose yield, milk protein yield tended to be lower (P = 0.10) in cows fed the LP than HP diet. Neither dietary CP content nor by-pass protein/RP-AA supplementation had an effect $(P \ge 0.46)$ on feed efficiency. Similarly, there was no dietary CP content or by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement effect on N efficiency $(P \ge 0.86)$.

2.2.3 Intake and apparent total tract nutrient digestibility

There was no dietary CP content × supplement interaction ($P \ge 0.18$) for all nutrient digestibility measurements. Dietary CP content did not have an effect ($P \ge 0.32$; Table 5) on OM, NDF, and ADF intake. Similarly, there was no detectable basal diet effect ($P \ge 0.18$) on apparent total-tract digestibility of DM, OM, NDF, and ADF. Crude protein intake and apparent total-tract CP digestibility, however, were lower (P = 0.01) in cows fed the LP than HP diet. There were no differences ($P \ge 0.30$) in intake or apparent total tract digestibility of DM, OM, NDF, ADF, or CP detected across by-pass protein/RP-AA supplements.

2.2.4 Measures of nitrogen utilization

With the exception of total urine (P = 0.04) and urine urea-N output (P = 0.05), there was no dietary CP content × supplement interaction for all other measures of N utilization (Table 6). Nitrogen intake, total N excretion and BUN concentration, however, were lower ($P \le 0.02$) for cows fed the LP compared to that of the HP diet. Similarly, there was a tendency for total urinary N output (P = 0.07), urinary urea N excretion (P = 0.05), urine uric acid (P = 0.06) and MUN concentration (P = 0.07) to be lower for cows fed the LP than HP diet. There was no dietary CP effect ($P \ge 0.28$) on milk N output, fecal DM (g/d) and N excretion (g/d and % of N intake), total urine (kg/d), urine N (% of N intake) and urea-N (% of total urine N) output. Apparent N balance, total urinary purine derivative excretion, and microbial N flow also did not differ ($P \ge 0.41$) for cows fed the LP compared to the HP diet. In addition, there was no by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement effect ($P \ge 0.12$) on all measures of N utilization. There was a diet × supplement interaction for total urine output (Figure 1; P = 0.04); the cows fed the LP diet excreted less urine per day than the cows fed the HP diet when receiving no supplementation (CON), whereas urine output did not differ across dietary CP content when supplements were provided.

2.2.5 Plasma AA and metabolite concentration

For EAA, there was a dietary CP content × by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement interaction ($P \le 0.02$) for plasma His, Ile, Leu and Val concentrations, and a tendency for a dietary CP content \times by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement interaction for plasma Lys (P =0.06) and Met concentrations (P = 0.05; Table 7). Specifically, the plasma His, Ile, Leu, and Val concentrations were lower for cows fed the LP than HP diet when provided with Supp B (Figure 2; $P \le 0.02$). Additionally, plasma Ile, Leu, and Val concentrations were greater for cows fed the LP than HP diet when provided with Supp A ($P \le 0.02$). There was no diet effect ($P \ge 0.17$), however, on plasma Arg, Thr and Trp concentrations. Except for plasma Gly and Tyr concentrations, which were greater ($P \le 0.03$) for LP than HP cows, there was no diet effect ($P \ge 0.16$) on other NEAA. There was a dietary CP content \times by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement interaction ($P \le 0.02$) for total plasma EAA and BCAA concentrations, and a tendency for a dietary CP content \times by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement interaction (P = 0.07) for plasma total AA concentration. Specifically, plasma total BCAA and EAA concentrations were higher for cows fed the LP than HP diet when provided with Supp A, and plasma BCAA was lower for cows fed the LP than HP diet when provided with Supp B (Figure 2; $P \le 0.02$). However, there was no diet effect ($P \ge 0.40$) on plasma total urea-N cycle AA, sulfur AA and NEAA concentrations. Similarly, diet had no detectable effect ($P \ge 0.12$) on plasma 3-methylhistidine and carnosine concentrations and plasma glucose concentration ($P \ge 0.27$).
2.3 Discussion

There is widespread use of CDDGS in lactating cow rations in the U.S., because it is cost-effective compared to traditional protein sources. Feeding CDDGS, however, especially in the high CP diets (16.5 to 18.5%, DM basis) that are typically fed during early lactation increases urinary and fecal N excretion and, thus, reactive N emissions. Consequently, there is growing interest in the development of nutritional strategies that reduce feed costs, maximize milk production, and limit N excretion when feeding CDDGS in lactating cow diets. Although restricting N intake reduces N wastage, it can compromise metabolizable AA supply and, thus, production performance. Therefore, our objective was to determine the effects of feeding supplemental by-pass protein sources (Supplement B and Supplement A) in high (16.6%; DM basis) vs. low (14.6%) CP diets containing 10% (DM basis) CDDGS on production performance and measures of N utilization efficiency.

Except for plasma AA concentrations and urinary excretion data, there were no interactions between dietary CP and supplemental RP-AA/bypass protein for all measurements in this study. Therefore, most of the discussion will focus on the main effects of dietary CP and supplemental RP-AA/bypass protein. Although feeding a low compared to a high CP diet resulted in a decrease in N intake, milk and milk component yields did not differ across diets (Table 4; Table 5). Giallongo et al. (2015) and Weigel et al. (1997) also did not observe a decrease in production performance when limiting N intake. Others (Lee et al., 2012a, Haque et al., 2012 and Fagundes et al., 2017), however, have reported a decrease in milk and milk protein yield when N intake was limited. Lee et al. (2012a) reported a 1.5 kg decrease in DMI when dietary CP content was reduced from 15.7 to 13.5% and this was attributed to a RDP deficiency that compromised ruminal microbial digestion and, thus,

passage rate. Similarly, Barros et al. (2017) reported a linear decrease in DMI with decreasing dietary CP content (16.2, 14.4, 13.1, and 11.8% CP, DM basis). In the current study, we did not measure nutrient digestion in the rumen. However, because apparent total tract DM and fiber digestibility did not differ across diets it is plausible that ruminal digestion was also not compromised, thus explaining DMI and milk production being similar for cows fed the low compared to high CP diet. Others, (Giallongo et a., 2015; Colmenero and Broderick, 2006) also did not report a decrease in DMI when lactating cows were fed low (13.5 to 15.8 %) than high CP (16.5 to 19.4%, DM basis) diets. In a study by Chibisa and Mutsvangwa (2013), feeding a low compared to high CP diet resulted in a 3.0 kg/d and 140 g/d decrease in milk and milk protein yield, respectively. This loss in production performance was attributed to a decrease in metabolizable protein supply caused by a decrease in ruminal NH₃-N concentration that compromised microbial protein synthesis. In the current study, although it was not measured, the observed decrease in BUN, MUN and UUN suggests ruminal NH₃-N concentration may have been lower in cows fed the low than high CP diet. However, microbial N supply estimated using urinary purine derivative excretion did not differ across diets. Therefore, the decrease in RDP supply when N intake was reduced possibly did not result in an NH₃-N deficiency that could have caused a substantial decrease in MP supply to limit milk production.

Because others (Nichols et al., 1998; Liu et al., 2000) have reported Lys, Met, and Phe to be limiting in high CP diets containing CDDGS, we expected metabolizable Lys and Met supply to be lower in cows fed the 14.6 compared to 16.5% CP diet. Therefore, we also expected the provision of supplemental RP AA/by-pass protein to be more beneficial for cows fed the 14.6 than 16.5% CP diet. We did not observe a supplement effect for any measures of production performance. This contrasts with others (Socha et al., 2005 and Broderick et al., 2009) who reported an improvement in production performance in cows fed a low compared to a high CP diet supplemented with RP Lys, Met and His. Because we did not observe a decrease in milk and milk component yield, it is possible that the Lys and Met deficiency in cows fed the 14.6 than 16.6% CP diet was not substantial enough to compromise production performance. Therefore, this could explain the lack of a supplement effect in the current study.

As expected, limiting N intake in the current study resulted in a decrease in urinary urea-N excretion, which possibly accounts for the decrease in total urine output as Maltz and Silanikove, (1996) reported a positive correlation between urine urea-N excretion and total urine production. For cows fed the LP diet and provided with either Supp A or B, however, urine urea-N tended to increase and total urine output increased, which resulted in similar urine output levels as cows fed the HP diet. This suggests that supplementation of by-pass protein/RP-AA sources resulted in an increase in the amount of AA hydrolyzed, releasing ammonia-N, possibly because a portion of the supplemented AA provided were not being utilized for anabolic processes such as milk protein synthesis, tissue growth, and repair.

In the present study, we expected that the LP diet would be limiting in some EAA, and therefore, provision of Supp A or B would increase the metabolizable AA supply, resulting in increased MY and/or MPY. We measured plasma AA concentration as an indirect indicator of AA supply. There were no differences in the plasma AA concentrations for cows fed the HP and LP diets with no supplementation. Plasma His, Ile, Leu, and Val concentrations, however, were lower for cows fed the LP than HP diet receiving Supp B. Additionally, plasma concentration of Ile, Leu, and Val were higher in cows fed the LP than

HP diet when provided with Supp A, although plasma His did not differ. Similar reductions in plasma His, Arg, Ile, Leu, Lys, Val, and Phe have been observed with supplementation of low CP diets (Piepenbrink et al., 1996 and Kröber et al., 2000). These observations could possibly be related to AA supply relative to requirements for protein synthesis. Provision of increasing levels of RP-His to a low compared to a high CP diet (14 vs. 18 % CP, DM basis) resulted in a decrease in plasma His, which was attributed to an increase in the extraction and utilization for protein synthesis; suggesting His was a limiting AA, and supply was increased with supplementation (Piepenbrink et al., 1996). Similarly, besides a decrease in several plasma EAA concentrations, when providing RP-His in a low CP (15.1%, DM basis) diet, Zang et al. (2018) also noted an increase in plasma and muscle His concentrations, suggesting that supplementation could have partially corrected an imbalanced metabolizable AA supply. In lactating cows, the plasma AA concentration is influenced by numerous factors besides dietary supply. For instance, post-absorptive use including mammary gland extraction for milk protein synthesis, body protein mobilization, and AA catabolism are all processes that have an impact on plasma AA concentration; however, they were not measured in the present study. Therefore, a potential increase in the availability of limiting AA when feeding Supp B in the LP than HP diet could possibly explain the decrease in plasma His, Ile, Leu and Val concentrations. The potential of an improved absorbed AA profile with use of Supp B over Supp A is not surprising; despite the fact that Supp A had higher concentration of almost all EAA, Supp B was fed at four times the inclusion level (Table 2; 113 vs. 453 g/d). The different inclusion rates for each supplement were used based on product recommendations; likely because of the greater EAA concentration of Supp A. Specifically, Met concentration is four times higher in Supp

A than B. Based on the amount of each supplement provided, however, Supp B supplied more than twice as much His, Ile, Leu, and Val each day (Table 2, 3).

2.4 Conclusion

Reducing dietary CP content from 16.6 to 14.6% when feeding CDDGS to cows during early lactation did not result in a decrease in DMI, MY, and milk component yield possibly because metabolizable protein supply was not compromised. Therefore, this may in part explain the lack of a benefit observed when providing by-pass protein/RP-AA supplements on production performance, despite the changes in the plasma AA profile. In addition, feeding CDDGS in a LP vs. HP diet also resulted in decreased MUN and UUN, which is suggestive of an improvement in the efficiency of N utilization. Provision of supplements to cows fed the LP diet, however, resulted in an increase in both total urine and urea-N output, which possibly indicates that at least a portion of the supplemented AA were not captured for anabolic purposes and the N was excreted as waste.

Chapter 3. Summary and Implications

In our study, we anticipated that reducing dietary CP from 16.6% to 14.6% when feeding CDDGS would improve the efficiency of N utilization, but also possibly reduce production performance. Whereas we did observe a decrease in BUN, MUN, and UUN, indicating less N wastage, there was no negative effect on production performance when feeding the low CP diet, except for a decrease in milk protein composition. This contradicts with reports from others (Chibisa and Mutsvangwa, 2013; Barros et al., 2017), who showed that decreasing dietary CP decreased MY while improving N utilization efficiency. Considering DMI was not affected in our study, it is possible that feeding the LP diet did not result in impaired rumen fiber digestion, and therefore did not decrease DMI and MY. This likely means that we did not restrict MP supply to a great extent when feeding the LP diet. Therefore, this may, in part, explain why we did not observe any supplement effects on production performance measures. We observed, however, a dietary CP × supplementation interaction for urine output and some plasma EAA levels, which suggests that supplementing the LP diet influenced AA supply and metabolism. The changes, however, were possibly not substantial to impact MY.

There were some limitations to our experimental design and execution, which may have resulted in some of our unanticipated observations. For instance, we were limited to use of 6 Holstein cows in a 3×3 split-plot experimental design, because of budgetary constraints. While the experimental power is limited with use of a low number of animals, others (Lascano and Heinrichs, 2011; Suarez-Mena et al., 2013) have used a similar approach as a strategy to obtain useful estimates. Furthermore, we were unable to study ruminal N metabolism, such as measurement of ammonia-N concentration. While it was our

33

intention to collect rumen samples for analysis, we were forced to reconsider this plan during our first sampling period. Unfortunately, the rumen sampling hose we had was not rigid enough such that it proved difficult to penetrate the rumen mat. Therefore, the samples we collected had varying degrees of saliva contamination, which prevented us from analyzing them. It is not uncommon, however, to use other measures, such as MUN and UUN, as indirect measures of ruminal metabolism (Jonker et al., 1998). For instance, the ammonia-N lost from the rumen is detoxified to urea-N in the liver, which then can be excreted as MUN and UUN; therefore, there is a positive correlation between those variables. Lastly, this study was conducted using cows in early lactation, which is a period when animals are experiencing numerous stressors. Therefore, this can result is wide variation in measurements taken during this period as different animals cope with the stressors to varying degrees. We chose to work with cows during early lactation, however, because it is during this phase that producers mostly often over-feed protein because of the high level of milk production (NRC, 2001).

Given these limitations, there are opportunities to generate more useful information in this area of research. We conducted a metabolism study, with only a small group of animals. Therefore, a large production study, possibly at the farm scale, would increase statistical power and provide useful estimates. Additionally, we only tested two supplementation rates. Therefore, there is potential for testing other inclusion levels for each of the supplements to determine the optimum rate to use, based on differing EAA profiles, as well as absorption efficiencies. For AA supplementation overall, there is great potential in the industry for a better understanding of meeting specific AA demands; even if it is still not a realistic method for most producers because of cost. Gaining more knowledge on the use of these by-

References

Aguerre, M. J., M. A. Wattiaux, T. Hunt, and B. R. Larget. 2010. Effect of dietary crude protein

on ammonia-N emission measured by herd nitrogen mass balance in a freestall dairy barn managed under farm-like conditions. J. Animal Sci. 4:1390–1400.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731110000248.

AOAC. 1984. Official Methods of Analysis. Association of Official Analytical Chemists. 14th

Edition, AOAC, Arlington.

AOAC. 1990. Official Methods of Analysis. 15th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem., Arlington, VA.

- AOAC. 2005. Official methods of analysis. 18th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. Int., Gaithersburg, MD.
- AOAC. 2006. Official methods of analysis. 18th ed. Rev 1. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. Int, Gaithersburg, MD.
- AOAC. 2016. Official methods of analysis. 20th ed. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem, Int, Rockville, MD.
- Armentano, L. E., Bertic, J., and Ducharme, G. A. 1996. Response of lactating cows to methionine or methionine plus lysine added to high protein diets based on alfalfa and heated soybeans. J. Dairy Sci. 80: 1194-1199. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(97)76047-8.

- Barros T., Quaassdorff M.A., Aguerre M.J., Olmos Colmenero J.J., Bertics S.J., Crump P.M., and Wattiaux M.A. 2017. Effects of dietary crude protein concentration on latelactation dairy cow performance and indicators of nitrogen utilization. J. Dairy Sci., 100:5434-5448. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2016-11917.
- Birkelo, C.P., Brouk, M.J., Schingoethe, D.J. 2004. The energy content of wet corn distillers grains for lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci., 87:1815-1819. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73338-X.
- Bristow, A. W., Whitehead, D. C. and Cockburn, J. E. 1992. Nitrogenous constituents in the urine of cattle, sheep, and goats. J. Sci. Food Agric. 59: 387-394. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.2740590316.
- Broderick G. A. 2003. Effects of varying dietary protein and energy levels on the production of lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 86:1370-1381. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73721-7.
- Broderick, G.A. and Reynal, S.M. 2009. Effect of source of rumen-degraded protein on production and ruminal metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 92: 2822– 2834. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2008-1865.

Bussink, D. W. and Oenema, O. 1998. Ammonia volatilization from dairy farming systems in

temperate areas: a review. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 51: 19-33. DOI: 10.1023/A:1009747109538.

Calsamiglia S, Ferret A, Reynolds CK, Kristensen NB, van Vuuren AM. 2010. Strategies for

optimizing nitrogen use by ruminants. J. Dairy Sci. 4(7):1184-96. DOI:

10.1017/S175173111000

Cammell, S.B , Sutton, J.D, Beever, D.E, Humphries, D.J, Phipps, R.H. 2000. The effect of crop

maturity on the nutritional value of maize silage for lactating dairy cows. 1. Energy and nitrogen utilization. J. Anim. Sci., 71: 381-390. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1357729800055235.

Casper, D.P., Maiga, H.A., Brouk, M.J., and Schingoethe, D.J. 1999. Synchronization of carbohydrate and protein sources on fermentation and passage rate in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 82: 1779–1790. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(99)75408-1.

Chase, L.E., Higgs, R. J., Van Amburgh, M. E. 2012. Feeding low crude protein rations to dairy

- cows—What have we learned? Proceedings, 23rd Ruminant Nutrition Symposium, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL - 32-42.
- Chandler, P. T. 1989. Achievement of optimum amino acid balance possible. Feedstuffs 61(26):14, 25.

Chen, X. B., and M. J. Gomes. 1992. Estimation of microbial protein supply to sheep and cattle

based on urinary excretion of purine derivatives—An overview of the technical details. Occasional Publication. Int. Feed Res. Unit, Rowett Res. Inst., Aberdeen, UK. Chen, G., and J. B. Russell. 1991. Effect of monensin and a protonophore on protein

degradation, peptide accumulation and deamination by mixed ruminal

microorganisms in vitro. J. Anim. Sci. 69:2196-2203.

Choi, R.P., Koncus, A.F., O'Malley, C.M., Fairbanks, B.W. 1949. A proposed method for the

determination of color of dry products of milk. J. Dairy Sci., 32:580-586.

- Chibisa, G.E., D.A. Christensen, and T. Mutsvangwa. 2012. Effects of replacing canola meal as the major protein source with wheat dried distiller's grains with solubles on ruminal function, microbial protein synthesis, omasal flow, and milk production in cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95:824–841. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2011-4718.
- Chibisa, G. E. and Mutsvangwa, T. 2013. Effects of feeding wheat or corn-wheat dried distillers grains with solubles in low- or high-crude protein diets on ruminal function, omasla nutrient flows, urea-N recycling, and performance in cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96(10): 6550-6563. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2013-6622.

Clark, J. H., T. H. Klusmeyer, and M. A. Cameron. 1992. Microbial protein synthesis and flows

of nitrogen fractions to the duodenum of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 75:2304–2323. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)77992-2.

- Colmenero Olmos J. J. and Broderick G. A. 2006. Effect of dietary crude protein concentration on ruminal nitrogen metabolism in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 89:1694-1703. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72237-8.
- Cyriac J., A.G. Rius, M.L. McGilliard, R.E. Pearson, B.J. Bequette, M.D. Hanigan Lactation performance of midlactation dairy cows fed ruminally degradable protein at

concentrations lower than national research council recommendations. J. Dairy Sci. 91:4704-4713. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2008-1112.

Fagundes M. A., Yang S. Y., Eun J. S., Hall J. O., Moon J. O., and Park J. S. 2017. Influence of supplementing a methionine derivative, *N*-acetyl-L-methionine, in dairy diets on production and ruminal fermentation by lactating cows during early to mid-lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 101:7082 – 7094. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2017-14130.

Firkins, J.L., Berger, L.L., Fahey Jr., G.C., Merchen, N.R. 1984.Ruminal nitrogen degradability

and escape of wet and dry distillers grains and wet and dry corn gluten feed

J. Dairy Sci., 67:1936-1944. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(84)81527-1.

Frate, C. 2007. Nitrogen Transformation in Soil. University of California Cooperative Extension.

Tulare County, CA. Accessed Feb 13, 2019.

http://cdrf.org/wpcontent/uploads/2012/01/11.7 Nitrogen Transformations-final.pdf.

Gaillard, C., Sorensen, M. T., Vestergaard, M., Weisbjerg, M. R., Basar, A., Larsen, M. K., Martinussen, H., Kidmose, U., and Sehested, J. 2017. Effect of substituting soybean meal and canola cake with grain-based dried distillers grains with solubles as a protein source on feed intake, milk production, and milk quality in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 100(10): 1980-1989. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-12654.

Giallongo F., Hristov A.N., Oh J., Frederick T., Weeks H., Werner J., Lapieere H., Patton R.A.,

Gehman A., and Parys C. 2015. Effects of slow-release urea and rumen-protected methionine and histidine on performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 98:3292-308. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2014-8791.

Godden, S. M., K. D. Lissemore, D. F. Kelton, K. E. Leslie, J. S. Wal-ton, and J. H. Lumsden.

2001. Relationships between milk urea concentrations and nutritional management, production, and eco-nomic variables in Ontario dairy herds. J. Dairy Sci. 84:1128–1139. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)74573-0.

- Ham, G.A., Stock, R.A., Klopfenstein, T.J., Larson, E.M., Shain, D.H., Huffman, R.P. 1994.
 Wet corn distillers byproducts compared with dried corn distillers grains with solubles as a source of protein and energy for ruminants. J. Anim. Sci., 72: 3246-3257.
- Haque M. N., Rulquin H., Andrade A., Faverdin P., Peyraud J. L., Lemosquet S. 2012. Milk protein synthesis in response to the provision of an "ideal" amino acid profile at 2 levels of metabolizable protein supply in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 95:5876 5887.
 DOI: 10.3168/jds.2011-5230.

Hristov, A. N. 2014. Low Protein Diets for Dairy Cows. Extension. Accessed November 8, 2018.

https://articles.extension.org/pages/71761/low-protein-diets-for-dairy-cows#.VFd-KcmqBh8.

Hristov, A. N., and F. Giallongo. 2014. Feeding protein to dairy cows—What should be our target? Pages 75–84 in Proc. Tri-State Dairy Nutr. Conf., Fort Wayne, IN. Ohio State Univ., Columbus.

- Hristov, A. N., M. Hanigan, A. Cole, R. Todd, T. A. McAllister, P. M. Ndegwa, and A. Rotz.
 2011. Review: Ammonia emissions from dairy farms and beef feedlots: A review.
 Can. J. Anim. Sci. 91:1–35. https://doi.org/10.4141/CJAS10034.
- Hristov, A.N. and Jouany, J.-P. Factors affecting the efficiency of nitrogen utilization in the rumen. in: A.N. Hristov, E. Pfeffer (Eds.) Nitrogen and Phosphorus Nutrition of Cattle and Environment. CAB International, Wallingford, UK; 2005: 117–166
- Hristov, A. N., W. J. Price, and B. Shafii. 2004. A meta-analysis examining the relationship among dietary factors, dry matter intake, and milk and milk protein yield in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 87:2184-2196. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)70039-9.
- Hristov, A. N., J. K. Ropp, K. L. Grandeen, S. Abedi, R. P. Etter, A. Melgar, and A. E. Foley. 2005. Effect of carbohydrate source on ammonia utilization in lactating dairy cows. J. Anim. Sci. 83:408–421.

Ipharraguerre, I.R. and Clark, J.H. 2005. Impacts of the source and amount of crude protein on

- the intestinal supply of nitrogen fractions and performance of dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 88: E22–E37. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)73134-9.
- Jones C. M. and Heinrichs J. 2013. Penn State Particle Separator. https://extension.psu.edu/penn-state-particle-separator. Accessed 20th December, 2018.
- Jonker, J. S., R. A. Kohn, and R. A. Erdman. 1998. Using milk urea nitrogen to predict nitrogen excretion and utilization efficiency in lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81:2556-2570. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75825-4.

Kleinschmit, D. H., D. J. Schingoethe, A. R. Hippen, and K. F. Kalscheur. 2007. Dried distillers

grains plus solubles with corn silage or alfalfa hay as the primary forage source in

dairy Cow diets. J. Dairy Sci. 90:5587-5599. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2006-753.

Kleinschmit, D. H., Schingoethe, D. J., Kalscheur, K. F., and Hippen, A. R. 2006. Evaluation of

various sources of corn dried distillers grains plus solubles for lactating dairy cattle. J.

Dairy Sci. 89(12): 4874-4794. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72528-0.

Knobeloch, L., Salna, B., Hogan, A., Postle, J., and Anderson, H. 2000. Blue babies and nitrate-

contaminated well water. J. Environ Health Perspect. 108(7):675. DOI: 10.1289/ehp.00108675.

Kononoff P. J., A. J. Heinrichs, and D. R. Buckmaster. 2003. Modification of the Penn State forage and total mixed ration particle size separator and the effects of moisture content on its measurements. J. Dairy Sci. 86: 1858-1863. DOI:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73773-4.

Kröber, T.F., Kreuzer, M., Senn, M., Langhans, W., Sutter, F. 2000. Effects of rumenprotected

methionine in a low protein ration on metabolic traits and performance of early lactating cows as opposed to rations with elevated crude protein content. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr., 84:148-164

Lapierre, H. and Lobley, G. D. 2001. Nitrogen recycling in the ruminant: A review. J. Dairy Sci.,

84: E223-236. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)70222-6.

Lapierre, H., Pacheco, D., Berthiaume, R., Ouellet, D. R., Schwab, C. G., Dubreuil, P., Holtrop

G., and Lobley, G. E. 2006. What is the true supply of amino acids for a dairy cow? J. Dairy Sci. 89:E1-E14. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72359-1.

- Lascano, G. J. and Heinrichs, A. J. 2011. Effects of feeding different levels of dietary fiber through the addition of corn stover on nutrient utilization of dairy heifers precisionfed high and low concentrate diets. J. Dairy Sci. 94(6):3025-3036. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2010-3831.
- Lee, C. A.N. Hristov, K.S. Heyler, T.W. Cassidy, M. Long, B.A. Corl, S.K.R. 2011. Karnati Effects of dietary protein concentration and coconut oil supplementation on nitrogen utilization and production in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci., 94:5544-5557. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2010-3889.
- Lee, C., Hristov, A.N., Heyler, K.S., Cassidy, T.W., Lapierre, H., Varga, G.A., and Parys, C.
 2012a. Effects of metabolizable protein supply and amino acid supplementation on nitrogen utilization, milk production, and ammonia emissions from manure in dairy cows

J. Dairy Sci., 95:5253-5268. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2012-5366.

Lee, C., A. N. Hristov, T. W. Cassidy, K. S. Heyler, H. Lapierre, G. A. Varga, M. J. de Veth,
R. A. Patton, and C. Parys. 2012b. Rumen protected lysine, methionine, and histidine increase milk protein yield in dairy cows fed a metabolizable protein-deficient diet. J. Dairy Sci. 95:6042–6056. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2012-5581.

Liu C., D.J. Schingoethe, G.A. Stegeman. 2000. Corn distillers grains versus a blend of protein supplements with or without ruminally protected amino acids for lactating cows. J. Dairy Sci., 83:2075-2084. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(00)75089-2.

Loerch, S.C., Berger, L. L., Plegge, S. D., Fahey, G. C. 1983. Digestibility and rumen escape of

soybean meal, blood meal, meat and bone meal, and dehydrated alfalfa nitrogen. J. Anim. Sci. 57(4):1037 – 1047. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1983.5741037.

Maltz, E. and Silanikove, N. 1996. Kidney function and nitrogen balance of high yielding dairy

cows at the onset of lactation. J. Dairy Sci. 79: 1621-1626. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(96)76525-6.

McCarthy, R. D., Klusmeyer. T.H, Vicini, J. L, Clark, J. H, Nelson, D.R. 1989. Effects of Source

of Protein and Carbohydrate on Ruminal Fermentation and Passage of Nutrients to the Small Intestine of Lactating Cows. J. Dairy Sci. 72(8): 2002-2016. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(89)79324-3.

- Mertens, D. R. 2002. Gravimetric determination of amylase-treated neutral detergent fiber in feeds with refluxing in beakers or crucibles: collaborative study. J. AOAC Int. 85:1217–1240.
- Nichols, J. R., D. J. Schingoethe, H. A. Maiga, M. J. Brouk, and M. S. Piepenbrink. 1998. Evaluation of corn distillers grains and ruminally protected lysine and methionine for

lactating dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 81:482–491. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75600-0.

NRC. 1985. Ruminant Nitrogen Usage. Natl. Acad. Press., Washington, DC.

- NRC. 2001. Nutrient requirements of dairy cattle. 7th ed. National academy press, Washington, DC.
- OECD. 2015. Environmentally related taxes; taxes on energy use. Centre for Tax Policy and Administration. http://www.oecd.org/tax/tax-policy/environmental-tax-profile-netherlands.pdf. Acccessed 19 June, 2019.
- Ouellet, D., Berthiaume, R., Holtrop, Grietje, Lobley, Gerald, Martineau, R., Lapierre, H.
 2010. Effect of method of conservation of timothy on endogenous nitrogen flows in lactating dairy cows. Journal of dairy science. 93. 4252-61. 10.3168/jds.2010-3085.
- Paz, H. A., de Veth, M. J., Ordway, R. S., Kononoff, P.J. 2013. Evaluation of rumenprotected lysine supplementation to lactating dairy cows consuming increasing amounts of distillers dried grains with soluble. J. Dairy Sci., 96:7210-7222. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2013-6906.

Pfeffer, E. and Hristov, A.N. (Eds.) Nitrogen and Phosphorus Nutrition of Cattle. Reducing the

Environmental Impact of Cattle Operations. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, UK; 2005: 14-17; 243-248.

Piepenbrink M.S., T.R. Overton, J.H. Clark. 1996. Response of cows fed a low crude protein diet to ruminally protected methionine and lysine. J. Dairy Sci., 79:1638-1646.

Reynolds, C. K. and Kristensen, N. B. 2008. Nitrogen recycling through the gut and the nitrogen economy of ruminants: an asynchronous symbiosis. J. Anim. Sci. Suppl. 86:E293-305. DOI: 10.2527/jas.2007-0475.

Robinson, P. H., A. H. Fredeen, W. Chalupa, W. E. Julien, H. Sato, T. Fujieda, and H. Suzuki.

- 1995. Ruminally protected lysine and methionine for lactating dairy cows fed a diet designed to meet requirements for microbial and postruminal protein. Journal of Dairy Science 78(3):582-594. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(95)76669-3.
- Rodriguez R., Sosa, A., Rodriguez, Y. 2007. Microbial protein synthesis in rumen and its importance to ruminants. Cuban J. of Agri. Sci. 41(4): 287-294.
- Russell, J. B., J. D. O'Connor, D. G. Fox, P. J. Van Soest, and C. J. Sniffen. 1992. A net carbohydrate and protein system for evaluating cattle diets: Ruminal fermentation. J. Anim. Sci. 70:3551–3561.
- Santos, F.A.P, Santos, J. E. P., Theurer, C. B., and Huber, J. T. 1989. Effects of Rumen-Undegradable Protein on Dairy Cow Performance: A 12-Year Literature Review. J. Dairy Sci. 81:3182-3213. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(98)75884-9.

Satter L.D. and R.E. Roffler. 1975. Nitrogen requirement and utilization in dairy cattle. J. Dairy

Sci., 58:1219-1237. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(75)84698-4.

Schwab, C. G., Bozak, C. K., and Whitehouse, N. L. 1992. Amino acid limitation and flow to duodenum at four stages of lactation. 1. Sequence of lysine and methionine limitiation. J. Dairy Sci. 75: 3486-3502. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)78125-9.

- Sinclair, K. D., P. C. Garnsworthy, G. E. Mann, and L. A. Sinclair. 2014. Reducing dietary protein in dairy cow diets: Implications for nitrogen utilization, milk production, welfare and fertility. J. Animal Sci. 8:262–274. DOI: 10.1017/S1751731113002139.
- Socha, M.T., Putnam, D.E., Garthwaite, B.D., Whitehouse, N.L., Kierstead, N.A., Schwab, C.G., Ducharme, G.A., and Robert, J.C. Improving intestinal amino acid supply of pre- and postpartum dairy cows with rumen-protected methionine and lysine. J. Dairy Sci. 2005; 88: 1113–1126. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)72778-8.

Spek J. W., J. Dijkstra, G. van Duinkerken, W. H. Hendriks, and A. Bannink. 2013. Prediction of

urinary nitrogen and urinary urea nitrogen excretion by lactating dairy cattle in northwestern Europe and North America: a meta-analysis. J. Dairy Sci. 96:4310-4322. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2012-6265.

- Stentoft, C., M. Vestergaard, P. Løvendahl, N. B. Kristensen, J. M. Moorby, and S. K. Jensen. 2014. Simultaneous quantification of purine and pyrimidine bases, nucleosides and their degradation products in bovine blood plasma by high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A 1356:197–210. DOI: 10.1016/j.chroma.2014.06.065
- Suarez-Mena, F. X., Lascano, G. J., and Heinrichs, A. J. 2013. Chewing activities and particle size of rumen digesta and feces of precision-fed dairy heifers fed different forage levels with increasing levels of distillers grains. J. Dairy Sci. 96(8): 5184-5193. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2012-6155.

- Tamminga, S. 1992. Nutrition management of dairy cows as a contribution to pollution control. J. Dairy Sci. 75:345-357. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)77770-4.
- Tyner, W. E. The Integration of Energy and Agricultural Markets. Agricultural Economics 41(2010): 193-201. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-0862.2010.00500.x.
- Uddin, J., Khandaker, Z.H., Khan, J., and Kahn, M. 2015. Dynamics of microbial protein synthesis in the rumen A review. J. Anim. Of Vet. And Anim. Sci. V:2(5). DOI
- USDA-EPA; US Department of Agriculture and Environmental Protection Agency. 1999. Unified National Strategy for Animal Feeding Operations. Accessed Jan. 30, 2019. http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/finafost.pdf.
- US EPA; Environmental Protection Agency. 1972. National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System. https://www.epa.gov/npdes. Accessed Jan. 28, 2019.
- US EPA; Environmental Protection Agency. 2012a. Relation between nitrate in water wells and potential sources in the lower Yakima Valley, Washington. Accessed Jan. 30, 2019.

http://www.epa.gov/region10/pdf/sites/yakimagw/nitrate_in_water_wells_study_9-27-2012.pdf.

- US EPA; Environmental Protection Agency. 2016. Yakima Valley Dairies Consent Order Update. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-12/documents/loweryakima-valley-groundwater-fact-sheet-june-2016.pdf. Accessed Mar. 6, 2019.
- USDA-NASS; United States Department of Agriculture National Agricultural Statistics Service. 2018a. Milk Production Report. Accessed Feb 3, 2019.

https://www.nass.usda.gov/Surveys/Guide_to_NASS_Surveys/Milk_Production/inde x.php.

- USDA-NASS; United States Department of Agriculture National Agricultural Statistics Service. 2018b. Prices Received for Milk by Month. Accessed Feb 4, 2019. https://www.nass.usda.gov/Charts_and_Maps/Agricultural_Prices/pricemk.php
- Valadares, R. F., G. A. Broderick, S. C. Valadares Filho, and M. K. Clayton. 1999. Effect of replacing alfalfa silage with high moisture corn on ruminal protein synthesis estimated from excretion of total purine derivatives. J. Dairy Sci. 82:2686–2696.
- Valente, T.N.P.; Detmann, E.; Valadares Filho, S.C. et al. Avaliação dos teores de fibra em detergente neutro em forragens, concentrados e fezes bovinas moídas em diferentes tamanhos e em sacos de diferentes tecidos. Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia, 2011
- Van Cauwenbergh, N., Biala, K., Bielders, C., Brouckaert, V., Franchoi, L., Garcia Cidad, V., Hermy, M., Mathijs, E., Muys, B., Reijnders, J., Sauvenier, X., Valckx, J.,
 Vanclooster, M., Van der Veken, B., Wauters, E., and Peeters, A. 2006. SAFE A hierarchial framework for assessing the sustainability of agricultural systems.
 Agriculture, Ecosystems, and Environment 120(2007): 229-242.
 DOI:10.1016/j.agee.2006.09.006.
- Van Cleemput, O., Samater, A. H. 1996. Nitrite in soils: accumulation and role in the formation of gaseous N compounds. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems. 45: 81-89.
 DOI: 10.1007/BF00749884.
- VandeHaar, M. J. and St-Pierre, N. 2006. Major Advances in Nutrition: Relevance to the Sustainability of the Dairy Industry. J. Dairy Sci. 89(4):1280-1291. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72196-8.

- Virtanen, A. I. 1966. Milk production of cows on protein-free feeds. Science 153:1603–1608. 10.1126/science.153.3744.1603.
- Weigel D. J., Elliott J. P., Clark J. H. 1997. Effects of amount and ruminal degradability of protein on nutrient digestibility and production by cows fed tallow. J. Dairy Sci. 80:1150 1159. 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(97)76042-9.

Zang, Y., Silva, L. H. P., Ghelichkhan, M., Miura, M., Whitehouse, N. L., Chizzotti, M. L., and

Brito, F. 2019. Incremental amounts of rumen-protected histidine increase plasma and muscle histidine concentrations and milk protein yield in dairy cows fed a metabolizable protein-deficient diet. J. Dairy Sci. 102:4138-4151. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-15780.

Tables and Figures

	Dietary C	P content
Item	Low (LP)	High (HP)
Ingredient, % of DM		
Barley silage	28.0	28.2
Barley grain	13.3	14.3
Rolled corn	12.0	12.9
Canola meal	1.67	11.9
Alfalfa hay	10.7	10.7
Grass hay	10.3	9.7
Corn DDGS	10.0	10.0
Soybean hulls	11.3	0.00
TopPeak ¹	1.00	1.00
$ADE premix^2$	1.15	0.87
MagnaFat ³	0.45	0.45
Salt	0.05	0.04
DM, %	57.0	57.0
OM, % of DM	90.1	89.6
CP, % of DM	14.6	16.6
ADF, % of DM	54.6	53.7
NDF, % of DM	43.7	41.6
NE _L , Mcal/kg	1.41	1.51
Protein supply and balance ⁴		
RDP, g/d	2,670	2,961
RUP, g/d	1,886	2,287
MP, g/d	2,905	3,244
MP balance	45.6	292
Lys, g/d	158	174
Lys balance	-39.0	-30.3
Met, g/d	54.5	62.7
Met balance	-14.0	-8.10
Lys:Met ratio	2.90	2.77

Table 1. Ingredient and chemical composition of the basal low and high CP diets

¹Liquid supplement (Performix Nutrition Systems; Agri Beef Co., Boise, ID) contained 0.5% fat, 8.27% CP (0.21% as NPN), 6% Ca, 0.16% P, 2% K, 1.07% Mg, 0.35% S, and 4.10% salt.

²ADE premix (Performix Nutrition Systems; Agri Beef Co., Boise, ID) contained 14.4% CP, 20.4% Ca, 0.47% P, 0.66% K, 0.69% Mg, 0.36% Mg, and 7.61% Z, 540 kIU/kg vitamin A, 86.4 kIU/kg vitamin D, and 0.214 kIU/kg vitamin E.

³MagnaFat (Energy Feeds International; San Leandro, CA) contained 82.4% crude fat (total CA long-chain fatty acids; 42% palmitic, 3% stearic, 35% oleic, and 9% linoleic), 4% unsaponifiable matter, and 5% moisture.

⁴Protein supply and balance data calculated using CNCPS.

]	Dietary Ingred	ient			
Itam	Barley	Alfalfa	Grass	Corn	Barley	Low CP	High CP	Supp	Supp
Item	silage	hay	hay	grain	grain	pellet ¹	pellet ²	А	В
CP, %	9.60	21.3	7.50	9.10	10.9	23.1	32.1		
DM, %	94.0	95.0	95.6	78.5	90.2	88.1	88.6		
EAA, W/W% ³									
Arg	0.23	0.86	0.26	0.30	0.50	1.08	1.61	3.28	4.53
His	0.12	0.23	0.11	0.20	0.21	0.51	0.78	4.16	2.22
Ile	0.36	0.90	0.27	0.25	0.36	0.91	1.21	1.10	2.24
Leu	0.37	1.06	0.47	0.77	0.66	1.98	2.44	8.20	6.25
Lys	0.32	0.71	0.34	0.24	0.43	0.94	1.50	8.84	4.15
Met	0.11	0.27	0.11	0.13	0.17	0.34	0.56	3.51	0.79
Phe	0.37	1.06	0.30	0.32	0.46	0.87	1.24	4.19	3.37
Thr	0.20	0.60	0.27	0.24	0.33	0.81	1.20	2.15	2.59
Trp	0.06	0.25	0.05	0.06	0.08	0.18	0.32	0.74	0.59
Val	0.48	1.02	0.36	0.34	0.51	1.01	1.52	5.81	4.90
NEAA									
Ala	0.39	0.72	0.40	0.49	0.46	1.17	1.50	5.14	4.75
Asn	0.44	1.44	0.61	0.47	0.63	1.60	1.99	7.09	6.02
Cys	0.20	0.44	0.08	0.16	0.22	0.53	0.72	0.80	1.75
Glu	0.68	1.45	0.67	1.18	2.09	3.19	5.08	6.33	7.78
Gly	0.41	1.01	0.32	0.28	0.42	1.03	1.40	4.01	6.43
Orn	0.16	0.29	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.02	0.05	0.12
Pro	0.41	1.08	0.56	0.58	2.09	1.47	2.03	3.23	5.28
Ser	0.35	1.14	0.25	0.29	0.37	0.94	1.17	2.91	3.97
Tau	0.14	0.19	0.14	0.18	0.18	0.14	0.11	0.03	0.08
Tyr	0.24	0.68	0.13	0.18	0.24	0.75	0.90	1.61	1.90

Table 2. Amino acid profile of dietary ingredients and by-pass protein supplements

¹Low CP pellet contains 38.0% soybean dust, 32.2% CDDGS, 10.7% canola meal, 10.7% barley grain, 5.37% ADE supplement, 1.61% salt, and 1.29% MagnaFat.

²High CP pellet contains 48.8% canola meal, 32.2% CDDGS, 10.74% barley grain, 5.37% ADE supplement, 1.61% salt, and 1.29% MagnaFat

 $^{3}W/W\%$ = grams per 100 grams of ingredient.

	Dietary treatments ¹										
		LP			HP						
	CON	Supp A	Supp B	CON	Supp A	Supp B					
EAA ² ,											
W/W% ³											
Arg	1.60	1.64	1.80	2.09	2.13	2.30					
His	0.76	0.81	0.86	1.01	1.06	1.11					
Ile	1.57	1.58	1.67	1.85	1.86	1.95					
Leu	2.83	2.92	3.11	3.26	3.35	3.54					
Lys	1.54	1.64	1.73	2.06	2.16	2.25					
Met	0.57	0.61	0.60	0.77	0.81	0.81					
Phe	1.60	1.65	1.76	1.95	1.99	2.10					
Thr	1.23	1.26	1.35	1.60	1.62	1.71					
Trp	0.31	0.32	0.33	0.44	0.45	0.46					
Val	1.89	1.96	2.11	2.37	2.43	2.59					
NEAA											
Ala	1.93	1.99	2.15	2.24	2.30	2.46					
Asn	2.52	2.60	2.79	2.88	2.96	3.15					
Cys	0.89	0.90	0.97	1.07	1.08	1.15					
Glu	4.81	4.89	5.17	6.57	6.64	6.92					
Gly	1.78	1.82	2.07	2.12	2.17	2.41					
Orn	0.25	0.25	0.26	0.25	0.25	0.26					
Pro	2.64	2.68	2.88	3.16	3.20	3.40					
Ser	1.62	1.65	1.80	1.83	1.87	2.01					
Tau	0.43	0.43	0.43	0.40	0.40	0.41					
Tyr	1.19	1.20	1.27	1.32	1.34	1.41					

Table 3. Amino acid profile of each dietary treatment combination.

¹Basal treatment = high CP (HP) or low CP (LP); supplemental treatment = CON (No supp), Supp A (113g), or Supp B (453g).

 $^{2}EAA = Essential AA$, NEAA = non-essential AA

 $^{3}W/W\%$ = grams per 100 grams of ingredient.

	CP cc	ontent		By-pass pr	otein/RP-AA	supplement			<i>P</i> -value ¹	
Variable	Low	High	SEM	CON	Supp A	Supp B	SEM	СР	SP	$CP \times SP$
DMI, kg/d	24.6	25.7	1.01	25.1	25.8	24.6	1.24	0.45	0.78	0.43
Milk yield, kg/d	41.1	44.3	2.52	42.0	42.7	43.3	3.09	0.39	0.96	0.24
ECM^2 , kg/d	39.5	43.9	2.65	40.4	42.8	41.8	3.36	0.27	0.87	0.26
Feed efficiency ³	1.60	1.70	0.09	1.61	1.62	1.71	0.11	0.46	0.76	0.59
N efficiency ⁴	29.7	29.8	1.40	29.2	29.6	30.5	1.78	0.97	0.86	0.27
Milk protein, %	2.71	2.93	0.07	2.87	2.80	2.80	0.08	0.04	0.78	0.91
Milk protein yield, kg/d	1.11	1.29	0.08	1.20	1.20	1.20	0.09	0.10	0.99	0.31
Milk fat, %	3.44	3.25	0.12	3.30	3.28	3.45	0.15	0.27	0.69	0.55
Milk fat yield, kg/d	1.40	1.49	0.11	1.39	1.46	1.48	0.14	0.58	0.88	0.48
Milk lactose, %	4.79	4.88	0.05	4.87	4.79	4.85	0.06	0.17	0.67	0.22
Milk lactose, kg/d	1.96	2.34	0.14	2.05	2.16	2.08	0.18	0.19	0.89	0.29
Plasma glucose, mg/dL	84.8	75.0	6.01	75.4	80.2	84.0	7.36	0.27	0.72	0.49

Table 4. Production performance for cows fed a high-CP or low-CP diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no

supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B).

 $^{1}CP = dietary CP content, SP = by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement, and CP × SP = dietary CP content × by-pass protein/RP-AA$ supplement interaction.

 $^{2}ECM = [0.327 \times \text{milk yield (kg/d)}] + [12.95 \times \text{milk fat yield (kg/d)}] + [7.2 \times \text{milk protein yield (kg/d)}].$

³Feed efficiency = $[CM \div DMI]$.

⁴N efficiency = [(milk N \div N intake) × 100].

	CP c	ontent		By-pass pr	otein/RP-AA	supplement		<i>P</i> -value ¹		21
Variable	Low	High	SEM	CON	Supp A	Supp B	SEM	СР	SP	$CP \times SP$
Intake, kg/d										
OM	22.3	23.8	1.01	23.2	23.3	22.7	1.23	0.32	0.93	0.88
NDF	11.3	11.7	0.59	11.7	11.8	10.9	0.72	0.65	0.64	0.86
ADF	15.3	15.3	0.35	15.2	15.4	15.3	0.43	0.90	0.92	0.98
СР	3.61	4.40	0.18	4.03	4.10	3.89	0.22	0.01	0.80	0.85
$ATTD^2$, % of intake										
DM	50.9	57.9	2.42	57.5	53.7	51.9	28.4	0.12	0.38	0.99
OM	55.1	60.7	2.55	61.6	56.4	55.6	3.13	0.15	0.38	0.92
NDF	41.7	49.4	3.52	48.3	45.3	43.0	4.30	0.15	0.69	0.81
ADF	54.2	59.6	2.72	59.4	55.3	56.1	33.3	0.18	0.67	0.86
СР	43.9	56.8	2.98	54.5	50.6	45.9	36.5	0.01	0.30	0.78

Table 5. Nutrient intake and apparent total tract nutrient digestibility for cows fed a high-CP or low-CP diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B).

 1 CP = dietary CP content, SP = by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement, and CP × SP = dietary CP content × by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement interaction

 2 ATTD = apparent total tract digestibility

	CP co	ontent	By-pass protein/RP-AA supplement						P-value	1
Variable	Low	High	SEM	CON	Supp A	Supp B	SEM	СР	SP	$CP \times SP$
N intake, g/d	578	704	28.8	645	655	623	35.3	0.01	0.80	0.85
Milk N output, g/d	170	202	18.2	185	182	192	15.8	0.28	0.80	0.31
Fecal excretion										
DM, kg/d	11.7	10.5	0.90	10.1	11.0	12.3	1.14	0.36	0.41	0.28
N, g/d	315	333	27.9	292	317	362	35.4	0.65	0.37	0.29
N, % of N intake	45.3	54.4	4.89	45.0	53.2	51.2	6.36	0.23	0.58	0.49
Urinary excretion										
Total output, kg/d	35.6	34.5	2.75	37.0	33.9	34.2	2.66	0.78	0.42	0.04
N, g/d	245	319	25.5	289	269	288	35.5	0.07	0.90	0.50
Urea-N, g/d	139	185	14.8	157	157	172	20.5	0.05	0.79	0.05
N, % of N intake	40.3	43.5	3.35	43.3	44.0	43.5	4.11	0.55	0.99	0.71
Urea-N, % of total urine N	59.4	56.6	4.22	53.1	59.1	61.8	4.09	0.67	0.12	0.17
Total N excretion, kg/d										
N, g/d	462	561	26.6	511	533	491	33.7	0.02	0.66	0.52
N, % of N intake	80.9	80.1	5.31	79.1	82.4	79.9	6.73	0.92	0.92	0.84
N balance ²	117	143	39.7	134	123	134	50.4	0.65	0.98	0.83
Urinary PD excretion ³ , mmol/d										
Allantoin	232	213	11.6	230	218	218	14.68	0.27	0.77	0.18
Uric acid	43.0	61.0	6.17	53.7	53.0	49.3	7.83	0.06	0.91	0.79
Total	274	246	22.9	284	272	225	28.0	0.41	0.32	0.85
Microbial N flow, g/d	164	161	11.5	170	160	157	14.6	0.88	0.79	0.19
BUN, mg/dL	8.78	12.6	0.80	10.1	9.60	12.4	1.01	0.01	0.17	0.39
MUN, mg/dL	11.9	14.5	0.72	12.8	12.7	14.0	0.89	0.07	0.55	0.49

Table 6. Measures of N utilization for cows fed a high-CP or low-CP diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no

supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B).

 1 CP = dietary CP content, SP = by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement, and CP × SP = dietary CP content × by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement interaction

²N Balance = [N intake (g/d)] - [milk N (g/d) + fecal N (g/d) + urine N (g/d)].

 3 PD = purine derivative

	CP co	ntent		By-pass pro	otein/RP-AA	supplement			1	
Variable	Low	High	SEM	CON	Supp A	Supp B	SEM	СР	SP	$CP \times SP$
EAA										
Arg	14.7	11.1	1.95	13.8	12.4	12.6	2.39	0.22	0.91	0.85
His	7.25	7.93	0.81	7.43	7.73	7.60	0.64	0.59	0.81	0.02
Ile	14.3	14.4	0.88	13.7	14.7	14.7	1.08	0.93	0.72	0.02
Leu	24.0	22.0	1.21	21.9	24.3	22.8	1.48	0.26	0.53	0.02
Lys	10.3	9.48	0.46	9.97	10.1	9.62	0.56	0.22	0.83	0.06
Met	2.75	2.91	0.09	2.83	2.89	2.78	0.11	0.23	0.78	0.05
Phe	8.77	6.66	0.48	7.19	8.55	7.40	0.59	0.01	0.25	0.45
Thr	8.13	7.87	1.16	8.02	7.50	8.49	0.95	0.88	0.54	0.17
Trp	7.34	7.40	0.51	7.78	7.41	6.92	0.42	0.94	0.11	0.28
Val	29.8	31.0	1.19	30.0	31.0	30.2	1.46	0.48	0.88	0.01
NEAA										
Ala	16.4	15.6	0.76	16.3	15.8	15.8	0.94	0.47	0.92	0.68
Asn	4.34	4.44	0.59	4.45	4.25	4.48	0.35	0.80	0.88	0.78
Cit	15.5	17.0	2.93	18.2	15.4	15.2	2.39	0.74	0.26	0.87
Cystathionine	0.23	0.28	0.03	0.25	0.25	0.26	0.02	0.30	0.93	0.74
Cys	0.24	0.16	0.12	0.26	0.14	0.19	0.15	0.63	0.86	0.95
Glu	6.07	6.42	0.49	5.96	6.46	6.32	0.48	0.65	0.65	0.59
Gln	30.4	31.5	1.98	32.2	30.8	29.9	2.42	0.70	0.80	0.64
Gly	18.0	13.7	1.24	16.8	14.9	15.8	1.52	0.03	0.68	0.79
Homocysteine	0.61	0.71	0.05	0.65	0.64	0.69	0.05	0.26	0.59	0.32
Orn	5.23	4.73	0.30	5.02	4.76	5.16	0.37	0.26	0.74	0.17
Pro	8.62	7.77	0.60	8.42	7.80	8.37	0.74	0.34	0.81	0.99
Ser	6.23	5.57	0.43	6.22	5.89	6.18	0.41	0.16	0.76	0.78
Tau	6.37	6.12	052	6.41	6.49	5.86	0.59	0.77	0.70	0.80

 Table 7. Plasma concentration of EAA and NEAA for cows fed a high-CP or low-CP diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed

 with either no supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B).

60

Tvr	10.2	7.54	0.56	9.03	8.75	8.78	0.69	0.01	0.95	0.50
3-Methylhistidine	0.46	0.39	0.04	0.41	0.45	0.42	0.04	0.22	0.74	0.87
Carnosine	1.34	2.32	0.32	1.90	1.73	1.86	0.35	0.12	0.92	0.77
Total BCAA ²	68.1	67.5	3.45	65.6	69.8	67.9	3.97	0.90	0.74	0.01
Total EAA	127	121	5.40	123	126	123	6.62	0.41	0.92	0.02
Total urea cycle AA ³	35.5	32.9	2.23	36.9	31.9	33.6	2.73	0.42	0.45	0.41
Total Sulfur AA ⁴	10.2	10.3	0.53	10.5	10.4	9.7	0.65	0.95	0.67	0.77
Total NEAA	129	122	5.86	130	122	124	7.18	0.40	0.68	0.91
Total AA ⁵	256	242	6.60	253	248	247	8.04	0.22	0.88	0.07

 1 CP = dietary CP content, SP = by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement, and CP × SP = dietary CP content × by-pass protein/RP-AA supplement interaction

²Branched-chain AA = Ile + Leu + Val.

 3 Urea Cycle AA = Arg + Cit + Orn.

 4 Sulfur AA = cystathionine + Cys + homocysteine + Met + Tau.

⁵Total AA = total EAA + total NEAA.



Figure 1. Sampling timeline for each 21-d period, with 18 d of dietary adaptation. ¹Milk samples collected at morning and evening milking as composites of all four quarters. ²Grab fecal and spot-urine samples were collected at 0, 3, 6, 9, 12,15, 18, and 21 hours post-feeding. ³Blood samples were collected 3 hours post-feeding.



Figure 2. Urine output for cows fed a low-CP or high-CP diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B). Urine output was lower for cows fed the LP than HP diet without supplementation (P = 0.04); however, provision of supplement resulted in no difference in urine output between cows fed the LP vs. HP diet (P = 0.78).




Figure 3. Plasma His, Leu, Ile and Val concentrations for cows fed a low-CP or high-CP diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B). For cows fed both the LP and HP diets and did not receive any supplement (CON), plasma AA concentration did not differ ($P \ge 0.22$). However, plasma His, Ile, Leu, and Val concentrations were consistently lower ($P \le 0.02$) in cows fed the LP than HP diet and provided Supp B, whereas, plasma Ile, Leu, and Val concentrations were higher ($P \le 0.02$) for cows fed the LP than HP diet and provided Supp A.



Figure 4. Plasma BCAA and EAA concentration for cows fed a low-CP or high-CP diet containing corn DDGS and top-dressed with either no supplement (CON), supplement A (Supp A), or supplement B (Supp B). For both total BCAA and total EAA, plasma concentrations were higher for cows fed the LP than HP diet when provided with Supp A ($P \le 0.02$), and total BCAA concentration was also lower for cows fed the LP than HP diet when provided with Supp B (P = 0.02).

Appendices

Research protocol approval

University of Idaho Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee

Date:	August 09, 2017
To:	Gwinyai Emmanuel Chibisa
From:	University of Idaho
	Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee
Re:	IACUC-2017-37 Supplementation of dietary
	ruminally-protected amino acids to enhance

nitrogen utilization in dairy cows

Your animal care and use protocol for the project shown above was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee on 08/09/2017.

The original approval date for this protocol is: 08/09/2017 This approval will remain in effect until: 08/08/2018 The protocol may be continued by annual updates until: 08/08/2020

Federal laws and guidelines require that institutional animal care and use committees review ongoing projects annually. For the first two years after initial approval of the protocol you will be asked to submit an annual update form describing any changes in procedures or personnel. The committee may, at its discretion, extend approval for the project in yearly increments until the third anniversary of the original approval of the project. At that time, the protocol must be replaced by an entirely new submission.

aj frijoh-

Craig McGowan, IACUC Chair

University of Idaho Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee

- Date: September 01, 2017
- To: Gwinyai Emmanuel Chibisa

From: University of Idaho

Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee

Re: Protocol IACUC-2017-37 Supplementation of dietary ruminally-protected amino acids to enhance nitrogen utilization in dairy cows

Your requested amendment of the animal care and use protocol listed above was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee on 09/01/2017.

This amendment request was submitted for review on: 08/31/2017 10:19:12 AM PDT The original approval date for this protocol was: 08/09/2017 This approval will remain in effect until: 08/31/2018 The protocol may be continued by annual updates until: 08/08/2020

Federal laws and guidelines require that institutional animal care and use committees review ongoing projects annually. For the first two years after initial approval of the protocol you will be asked to submit an annual update form describing any changes in procedures or personnel. The committee may, at its discretion, extend approval for the project in yearly increments until the third anniversary of the original approval of the project. At that time, the protocol must be replaced by an entirely new submission.

aj fijot-

Craig McGowan, IACUC Chair